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Overview
Ever increasing scrutiny, constant change and a shortage of trust in business have been
continuing features of the corporate reporting landscape. Once again our survey shows
how companies have managed these challenges, where they are struggling to comply
and areas of innovation and better practice.
As ever, we have scoured the annual reports of 100
listed UK companies, of various sizes and in various
industries, in order to provide you with insight into
FTSE reporting practices. We look at the whole report,
including the strategic report, governance content and
the financial statements.
Responsible capitalism and licence to operate
Responsible capitalism is a much-cited concept
in recent years and there is an increasing
acknowledgement that a company needs a societal
licence to operate. It was therefore no surprise that
92% of companies surveyed referred to key inputs into
their business model in the form of off-balance sheet
resources and relationships, ranging from employee
workforces to customer relationships and natural
resources. The International Integrated Reporting
Council’s <IR> Framework can be helpful in this regard,
with six companies referring to it or describing their
report as ‘integrated’.

Corporate governance reforms have also seen the
FRC publish a new UK Corporate Governance Code,
incorporating the Prime Minister’s broad social reform
agenda and desire to restore trust in UK business.
Effective in 2019, the 2018 Code will see numerous
changes to the detailed public reporting on a
company’s corporate governance arrangements, driven
by changes to the underlying governance processes for
many companies.
Some companies are already acknowledging their
broader responsibility within society. 29% of companies
referred to the responsibilities required by s172
(2017:17), with 8% explaining how the directors had
fulfilled those responsibilities and had regard to their
duty under s172. The vast majority of companies (97%,
2017: 87%) evidenced consideration of their business’
impact on the community and the environment. The
fostering of relationships with suppliers was also
acknowledged by 71% (2017: 38%).

Company purpose and culture
32% of reports gave a clear description of a company
purpose that went beyond making profits for
shareholders and, encouragingly, 76 companies
discussed value created for at least one stakeholder
other than shareholders.

Non-financial information
One of the few changes to the requirements for
annual reports in 2017 was the implementation of the
Non-Financial Reporting (NFR) Directive in the UK. 70
of the companies surveyed fell within its scope and
compliance was mixed.

The FRC has also stressed the importance of corporate
culture in recent years, including the critical role of
the board in holding management to account. An
encouraging 58% of companies explained the values,
behaviours and culture that they seek to uphold.

One NFR Directive requirement is to give the policies
a company pursues in relation to environmental
matters, its employees, social matters, human rights
and anti-bribery and anti-corruption. 61 companies
clearly mentioned anti-bribery and anti-corruption,
but in many cases it was hard to identify whether
companies had made disclosures designed to meet the
NFR Directive, due to existing requirements touching
on similar areas. Another recurring issue was ambiguity
as to whether the information provided could really
be regarded as constituting a ‘policy’. For example,
we felt that only 23 of the companies in scope had
clearly named or described a policy in relation to social
matters.

Section 172
Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 (s172) already
requires directors to consider broader non-financial
matters, such as employee interests and the impact on
the community and environment, whilst promoting the
success of the company for its shareholders.
New laws will soon see all large UK companies having
to describe in their annual reports how their directors
have had regard to the matters set out in s172.
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The new NFR Directive requirements may have
contributed to an increase in the average length
of reports, which rose from 155 to 164 pages. 13%
discussed how they had regard to materiality in the
context of their narrative reporting, typically within
their corporate responsibility information.
Narrative reporting assurance
Despite investor focus on non-financial metrics, only a
quarter of companies referred to internal or external
assurance over non-financial or CSR information,
in some cases covering more than just traditional
sustainability information.
Use of APMs
The use of non-financial metrics remains relatively
common in companies’ key performance indicators
(KPIs), with 71% (2017: 74%) having one or more such
metric. Employee-related items were the most popular
type of non-financial metric - 75% (2017: 53%) of those
with non-financial KPIs had such a measure.
When it comes to financial metrics, alternative
performance measures (APMs), being adjusted
versions of IFRS measures, also remain popular,
reflecting the widespread belief in the UK that when
used appropriately they are useful. 96% presented
such metrics in their up-front highlights section, with
91% of those including an adjusted profit APM.
Compliance with ESMA guidelines
An emerging trend observed, adopted by 46%, was for
companies to have a dedicated section or appendix
on APMs, providing much of the information required
by ESMA’s guidelines on APMs. Overall, compliance
with ESMA’s guidelines was mixed. 86% of those with
an adjusted profit APM in their highlights section
reconciled it back to the IFRS measure and 80%
provided comparative balances.
Prominence of APMs
One of the more judgemental requirements of ESMA’s
guidelines is that APMs should not be given more
prominence than the associated IFRS measures. It
appeared that 20% of companies may have given
undue prominence to adjusted profit measures by
using bold font or graphs to emphasise APMs in their
highlights. Looking further into the reports, almost a
third of Chairmen’s and CEOs’ statements did not make
any reference to IFRS profit measures when discussing
adjusted profit measures, echoing findings from the
FRC’s recent thematic review on APMs.
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In the financial statements themselves, 68% had APMs
on the face of the income statement. In terms of the
labels used, it appears that concerns over the use of
misleading terms may be having an effect – the use of
‘exceptional’ items dropped from 20 companies to 11
companies and the use of ‘non-recurring’ from three to
none. The use of ‘adjusting items’ as an umbrella term
rose from six to ten.
Principal risks: cyber and technology
Against the backdrop of a fast-changing world,
companies on average identified ten risks that could
seriously affect their performance, future prospects or
reputation. These principal risks covered a wide variety
of issues, but in a business environment increasingly
utilising technology it was unsurprising that, similar to
the previous year’s reports, they frequently included
matters around cyber-crime (73%), data protection
(54%) and systems’ failures (46%). Many companies
evidenced in their reports that their boards are taking
cyber risks seriously, with 54% disclosing board
attention on cyber risk/cyber security, including
board training, presentations to the board or audit
committee, cyber insurance and externally provided
projects regarding cyber security.
Continuing with the technology theme, it was
interesting that 19% set out a principal risk that they
might not keep up with the pace of technological
change and that a failure to do so would threaten their
business. Another feature of the modern world, social
media, was explicitly referred to by a small number of
companies in the context of reputational risks and the
need to monitor such publicity.
Principal risks: Brexit
Looking slightly further ahead, the UK’s departure from
the European Union was identified as a principal risk by
25 companies, with a further 34 explicitly referring to
it in the context of a broader risk around marketplace
and economic uncertainty. 27% disclosed board
attention to the topic of Brexit, down from 44% in 2017.
In terms of their business model and how it might or
might not change following Brexit, the majority were
either silent (46%) or stated that they were monitoring
the situation (26%). 23% indicated that they did not
expect any change and the remaining 5% that they had
changed, would change or might change. The FRC is
keen for companies to keep updating the information
they provide on Brexit as the situation continues to
evolve.
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Principal risks: climate change
Surprisingly only one company identified climate
change as a principal risk. A very small number
mentioned compliance with regulation including that
designed to tackle climate change and 18 companies
identified environmental risks, ranging from availability
of resources to extreme weather events (without
linking these to climate change).
On a related note, only four companies asserted
some level of compliance with the guidelines on
climate-related disclosure published by the G20
Financial Stability Board’s Task Force on ClimateRelated Financial Disclosures (TCFD). Slightly more
encouragingly, 15 companies in total described their
board of directors’ oversight of climate related risks.
Viability
Having considered a company’s principal risks the
directors are required to provide a statement regarding
the company’s longer term viability. 50% (2017:
34%) indicated which specific risks were considered
in making their statement, with 54% disclosing
qualifications or assumptions underlying their
assessment – 29 companies mentioned the availability
of financing or refinancing.
The FRC and investors have indicated that they
expect to see directors undertaking an assessment
of a company’s prospects, including the resilience
of the business model, over a longer time period
than that over which they assess the company’s
viability. However, only 13% provided a clearly distinct
discussion of the company’s prospects in the viability
statement.
Board evaluation
The performance of directors is often subject to
considerable scrutiny nowadays, making board
evaluation disclosures of particular interest. 35% of
companies explained the findings and related action
points from board evaluation processes (2017: 41%). A
further 17% of companies just described the findings
of their evaluation (2017: 9%). Discussing areas for
improvement helps demonstrate transparency,
openness to change and commitment to the running of
an effective board.

Diversity
Boards can also benefit from having a suitably diverse
make-up. New rules, stemming from the NFR Directive
and implemented into the Disclosure Guidelines
and Transparency Rules (DTR), became effective for
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2017,
requiring disclosure of boardroom diversity policies
in the corporate governance statement, including
aspects such as age, gender, geographical diversity and
educational and professional background.
Although 80% (2017: 86%) of reports referred to
aspects of diversity other than gender, only 29% were
regarded as meeting the new DTR requirements. In
order to meet the new requirements, boards should
aim to describe the policy itself rather than the
processes in place or actions taken during the year. Any
cross-references to entity-wide diversity policies should
also include information on how they specifically apply
to the board.
Succession planning
After a significant improvement in our 2017 survey,
standards had been maintained in this year’s
succession planning disclosures. 93% of boards
disclosed activity around succession planning (2017:
89%, 2016: 69%). However, in our judgement only 33%
(2017: 41%) of companies this year included disclosures
that explained clearly the systems the board has
in place to maintain good succession planning, for
example use of a regularly updated skills matrix.
Audit committee reporting
The FRC’s Audit and Assurance Lab published, in
December 2017, investor feedback on what information
is expected from audit committees on significant
financial reporting issues. In our judgement, based on
the FRC’s findings, only 25% provided comprehensive
disclosures adding substantially to the reader’s
understanding of issues and how the audit committee
had considered and challenged them. In general, audit
committees could have provided more detail on their
actions and level of challenge and comparatively few
explained the rationale underlying their conclusions
regarding the significant issues.
The FRC’s program of thematic reviews led, in part,
to an increase in audit committee reports referring
to engagement with the FRC’s Corporate Reporting
Review panel – a rise from 3% to 15%.
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Judgements and estimates
In November 2017, the FRC published findings from
its thematic review of financial statement disclosures
on critical accounting judgements and key sources
of estimation uncertainty under IAS 1. Consistent
with the findings therein, it seemed to us that some
progress had been made but that there is still room
for improvement. For example, 66% (2017: 52%,
2016: 27%) distinguished between judgements and
estimates, bearing in mind that different information
is required for each, although 18 companies seemed
to have misclassified items between these categories.
Boilerplate also remains a concern - just under a third
of companies we looked at only provided disclosures
that were so generic they could have been applied
equally to any other company.
Defined benefit pensions
Another area where the FRC completed a thematic
review in 2017, and one that attracts significant
attention, is in respect of defined benefit schemes
run by companies. Albeit many are now closed to new
entrants or future accrual, 67% of companies still had
some form of defined benefit obligation. Encouragingly,
on an accounting basis at least, 40 were in a surplus
(where plan assets exceeded the liabilities) and 37
of those surpluses were recognised as assets by
companies, although only 21 provided justifications for
asset recognition.
New IFRSs
It was the final year for 81 companies surveyed before
the mandatory implementation of significant new
accounting standards on financial instruments and
revenue, IFRS 9 and IFRS 15. Given this proximity, and
perhaps thanks to regulatory pressure, it was pleasing
that companies provided more information on these
forthcoming standards than previously.
Six companies indicated that IFRS 15 might have a
material impact and a further 20 stated that it would
have an impact, which implied that it would be material.
Of those 26 companies, 23 quantified the impact.
Similarly, 19 companies indicated they expected IFRS
9 to have an impact, which again implied it would be
material, with 14 quantifying it.
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No companies had early adopted the new leasing
standard, IFRS 16, which becomes effective for
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019 and
brings most leases on balance sheet for lessees.
Some companies appeared well advanced in their
preparations, with eight companies quantifying the
impact. A further 36 companies gave some idea
of the impact through a cross-reference to their
operating lease commitments. However, care should
be taken in adopting such an approach, due to
potential differences between IAS 17’s disclosure and
the amount to be recognised under IFRS 16. In the
forthcoming reporting season expectations will only
increase in terms of the information to be provided on
the impact this significant new standard will have.
Final thoughts
Change abounds, both in terms of the business
environment companies find themselves operating in
and in terms of the information they are called upon to
provide to investors. This publication provides valuable
insight into how companies are responding to this
challenge and how they are innovating when it comes
to telling their story in their annual reports.
Veronica Poole
Global IFRS Leader and UK Head of Corporate
Reporting
Deloitte
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Introduction
In this publication we aim to provide insight into practices in annual reporting, focusing
on areas where requirements have changed, where regulators are focusing or where
innovative practices are emerging.
The publication presents the findings of a survey of
100 annual reports of UK companies with a premium
listing of their equity on the London Stock Exchange.
75 of the 100 companies are the same as those used
in the previous survey. The population comprises
19 FTSE 100 companies (2017: 18), 38 FTSE 250
companies (2017: 39) and 43 companies outside the
FTSE 350 (2017: 43). Investment trusts, other than real
estate investment trusts, are excluded from the sample
due to their specialised nature. The reports analysed
are for financial years ended between 30 September
2017 and 31 March 2018.
Each section addresses a different aspect of a typical
UK listed company’s annual report, generally
distinguishing between:
•• areas where compliance has been relatively good
or improved;

Although our survey data uses only companies from our
sample, when selecting examples of good practice we
have used material from companies that, in our view,
best illustrate a particular requirement or innovation,
regardless of whether they are in our sample.
Many more example disclosures can be found in
an appendix accompanying the electronic version
of this publication, available at www.deloitte.co.uk/
annualreportinsights. A more detailed discussion
of the regulatory requirements UK companies with
a premium listing are subject to is also provided as an
appendix in the electronic version.
Each section also includes a short list of items to watch
out for in the reporting season ahead, reflecting areas
of changing requirements or practice and areas of
regulatory focus.

•• areas where companies have struggled to comply
with requirements; and
•• areas where companies have gone beyond mere
compliance and are innovating or voluntarily
providing information.
The topic of integrated reporting impacts multiple
parts of companies’ annual reports and is discussed
in multiple sections of our publication. To help identify
this recurring topic we have used the following
colour‑coding:
Integrated reporting –
commentary highlighted blue
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1. Purpose and culture
32%

gave a clear,
prominent
description of their
purpose beyond
making profits for
shareholders

A company’s purpose defines ‘who’ a business is and why
it exists. It goes beyond financial goals to incorporate a
broader set of shared values and behavioural expectations;
a company’s values and behaviours define its culture.
Together, purpose and culture act as benchmarks for every
important decision. From environmental footprints to social
impacts businesses are scrutinised by an ever-wider array of
stakeholders. If they fall short in any respect, they erode a
vital commodity: trust. In an age of enhanced transparency
and heightened accountability, a loss of trust has profound
consequences. But this is not just about trust.
As Larry Fink, CEO BlackRock, noted in his 2018 letter to CEOs1
‘Without a sense of purpose, no company, either public or private,
can achieve its full potential. It will ultimately lose the license
to operate from key stakeholders. It will succumb to short-term
pressures to distribute earnings, and, in the process, sacrifice
investments in employee development, innovation, and capital
expenditures that are necessary for long-term growth’. He continues
to note that ‘ultimately, that company will provide subpar returns
to the investors who depend on it to finance their retirement, home
purchases, or higher education’.
A clear company purpose sets the context for the company
itself and, as a result, drives the company story told through the
annual report. It underpins the business model and how the
organisation creates value, drives the company’s strategy for
stakeholder engagement, and reflects the underlying culture
and values the company signs up to.
Given the importance of having a clear sense of purpose,
companies should feel proud to declare it to their investors.
Broadly consistent with 2017, 32 companies included a
prominent and clear description of the company’s purpose,
explaining why it exists, while 86% of companies discussed
culture or values in their strategic report. Of those who did
provide a clear purpose there was an even split between
companies in the FTSE 100, 250 and other sectors.
06

This clearer understanding of and realisation that businesses can
better succeed when they have a broader focus – succeeding for
broader stakeholders as well as shareholders – is consistent with
delivering an understanding of how the directors have discharged
their duty under section 172 (see section 4). It also resonates
with the FRC’s focus on corporate culture, which has indicated
the importance of board attention to this topic in order to hold
management to account (see section 9).
Once again the length and prominence of purpose statements
showed considerable variation. Those that were slightly longer,
two or three sentences, allowed the company to provide more
detail and substance. Similarly to 2017 a number were clearly
marked as purpose, for example BT Group plc, whilst others were
simply stated without a heading early on in the report, such as
HSBC Holdings plc’s on the inside front cover, or encompassed
within a ‘mission’ or ‘vision’.
Good examples of purpose statements link to wider
stakeholders whilst also providing clarity on the activities of the
company and avoiding the use of generic words or statements.
For example, National Express Group PLC wrote ‘Our customers
are at the heart of what we do at National Express. Whether they
are fare paying passengers, transport authorities or school boards,
the mission is the same: to relentlessly meet their expectations.
As a leading transport company, we provide a crucial service by
conveniently and safely connecting people to jobs, education,
shopping and leisure in an environmentally responsible way,
through value fares’.
Linked to purpose is the culture and values of the organisation
and how these underpin both what the business does and how
it does it, with reporting on this area increasing. Over half of
companies provided, within their strategy, a description of the
values, behaviours and culture that the entity seeks to uphold.
For example Intertek Group Plc outlines 5 ‘strategic enablers’
that explain the values, behaviours and culture that they seek
to uphold. In addition there was a rise of 33% in the number of
companies referencing the UN Sustainable Development Goals,
reflective of an increased focus for companies to have a wider
purpose that goes beyond creation of profit for shareholders
and demonstrates a commitment to longer term value creation
for a broader group of stakeholders.
As companies focus on longer term reporting and reporting how
they create value for a broad range of stakeholders, the role of
clear purpose underpinned by values and delivered through
a strong and consistent corporate culture has never been so
topical.
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What to watch out for
Explain your company’s purpose. The importance of communicating company purpose and linking this
to the strategy and business model is something that is drawn out in the FRC’s revised Guidance on the
Strategic Report2, published in July 2018.
Explain your corporate culture, the focus of the Board and their challenge to management in this area,
including both how the company goes about setting culture and then how it is adhered to. A useful starting
point is the FRC’s report on ‘Corporate Culture and the Role of Boards’3 published in July 2016.

Examples of disclosure
The following statements of purpose go beyond making a profit for shareholders.
BT Group Plc

Marks and Spencer Group plc

The following demonstrates an entity’s strategy explaining the values,
behaviours and culture that the entity seeks to uphold.
Intertek Group plc

HSBC Holdings plc

Lloyds Banking Group plc
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2. Report structure and preliminary
announcements

Average report length grown
from an average of

155 164
to

Reports comprised an average of

39%

61%

narrative

ﬁnancial
statements

13

companies mentioned how they
had regard to materiality in their
narrative reporting
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Preliminary results announcements
Initial results announcements were made to
the market, on average, 66 days after the year end,
an increase of 3 days compared to 2017. This increase
was driven by the slowing of releases from companies
outside of the FTSE 350 who took 74 days, compared
to 70 days in 2017. FTSE 350 companies released
results, on average, after 59 days, in line with 2017 and
significantly faster than their smaller counterparts.
Despite this gap in timing of release, the quickest 10
reporters were a mix of companies with 4 from FTSE
100, 4 from FTSE 250 and 2 from outside the FTSE 350.
Five companies chose to include special purpose audit
reports in their results announcements, all of whom
were outside of the FTSE 100. Investors may find such
timely insight on the audit helpful, rather than having
to wait for the full annual report to be released. 88
companies made it clear in their results announcement
that the results were based on audited amounts,
where the audit had been completed.
Reporting timetable
With most companies issuing preliminary results
based on fully audited financial statements, it comes
as no surprise that similar trends were found in terms
of the time taken for annual reports to be approved
by directors (as opposed to when they were published
in glossy form). The average time taken to approve
annual reports increased from 64 days to 66 days after
year end. In line with the results announcements, this
increase has been driven by companies outside of the
FTSE 350 where reporting took 75 days, compared to
69 days in 2017. The increase for FTSE 350 companies
was only 1 day to 60 days.
Companies outside of the FTSE 350 took between 44
to 120 days to approve their annual reports. This range
of 76 days is far broader than those companies in the
FTSE 100 who had a range of only 34 days, reflecting a
significant variation in resources available to companies
outside of the FTSE 350.

Length of report
Annual reports have grown again from 155
pages to 164 pages in the current year with 24
companies having annual reports with 200 pages or
more and 2 with over 300 pages. The 2 longest reports
from the previous survey cut the length of their reports
by 40 pages on average. However, the general trend is
that annual reports continue to grow and this is driven
primarily by companies outside of the FTSE 350.
The average length of financial statements have
increased to 63 pages, up from 60 pages in 2017.
However, the proportion of the annual report that is
narrative content remains at 61%, showing that the
increased length of annual reports is split relatively
evenly between narrative and financial reporting.
The purpose of the strategic report specifically is to
provide information to shareholders to help them
assess how directors have performed their duty under
s172. However, only that information that is material
for a shareholder’s understanding of the business
should be included. 13 companies talked about how
they had regard to materiality in the context of their
narrative reporting, most usually within their corporate
responsibility information – likely prompted by the
materiality guidance in the Global Reporting Initiative
(GRI) framework which many companies refer to.
However, 3 discussed it in respect of the narrative as a
whole, with 2 of those providing a detailed discussion
of how they arrived at the material matters.
It was encouraging that 38 companies cross referred
to a separate sustainability report, indicating that
they had included in the annual report only that
CSR information which was considered material for
investors but ensuring that further information,
provided for a broader range of stakeholders, was
available elsewhere.
The length of audit reports has remained consistent
year on year at 7 pages. However, the length of the
audit report often does not reflect the length of the
financial statements of the company as it comprises
on average 10% of a FTSE 100 company’s financial
statements but 13% of those outside the FTSE 350.

09

Annual report insights 2018| Surveying FTSE reporting

Directors’ remuneration
The length of the directors’ remuneration report
has remained above 10% of the whole annual report
but has fallen, on average, by 1 page to 18 pages. Whilst
FTSE 100 companies have the longest reports, on
average, at 20 pages, surprisingly the longest 5 reports,
all 30 pages or more, were from companies outside of
the FTSE 100.
It was pleasing to see that companies are
acknowledging the pay conditions of the wider
workforce within their directors’ remuneration reports
with 69% of companies making reference, if only
briefly, to their entire workforce. However, in line with
2017 no company has included a ratio comparing
directors’ to employees’ pay. From 1 January 2019
quoted companies will need to provide certain ratios
comparing CEO pay to employees.
In our sample, eight companies disclosed that more
than 20% of shareholder votes had opposed approval
of the previous ‘Annual Report on Remuneration’
at their most recent AGM, with one instance of the
opposing proportion exceeding 50%. The Code
requires companies to announce the actions they
intend to take to understand a significant proportion of
votes against a resolution; six of the above companies
had followed up with explanations of the actions taken
in their next directors’ remuneration report. Section 4
provides further detail on stakeholder engagement.
Consistency
In reporting how the entity has developed
and performed in the year, companies must ensure
their analysis is fair, balanced and comprehensive. In
assessing this, one of the things the FRC looks out for
is consistency between information in the ‘front half’
and the financial statements. One indicator of this is
whether the description of the entity’s major products,
services and markets and its competitive position
in those markets in the front half is aligned with the
segment analysis presented in the financial statements
– for 92 companies it was.

10

What to watch out for
	Remember that the strategic report is only
required to contain information material to
shareholders.
	Consider the communication principles set out
in the FRC’s revised Guidance on the Strategic
Report and the <IR> Framework’s Guiding
Principles, illustrated below.
	Consider investor views on whether to disclose
the level of distributable profits and any
associated recent FRC guidance.
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FRC’s Communication Principles
•• The strategic report should be fair, balanced
and understandable.

Examples of disclosure
Mondi plc commented on materiality in the
context of their report as a whole.
Mondi plc

•• The strategic report should be clear and
concise yet comprehensive.
•• Where appropriate, information in the
strategic report should have a forward-looking
orientation.
•• The strategic report should provide
information that is entity-specific.
•• The strategic report should highlight and
explain linkages between pieces of information
presented within the strategic report and in
the annual report more broadly.
•• The structure, presentation and content of the
strategic report should be reviewed annually
to ensure that it continues to meet its purpose
and only contains information that is relevant.

11
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3. Strategy and business model
How is the business model presented?

Is there evidence of a change in business
model because of Brexit?
2% 1% 2%

31%
23%
46%
64%

5%
26%

Narrative alone

Predominantly visual

Combination of narrative and visual

Yes, already changed

Indicated will be changing

Indicated might be
changing

No expectation the business
model will change

Possible impacts are being
monitored, but no conclusion

No

What information is provided in the business model?
78%

Key inputs in the form of oﬀ-balance sheet
resources and relationships?

53%

24%

23%

80%

Key inputs in the form of assets and liabilities
recognised on balance sheet?

59%

17%

67%
0%

20%

Elsewhere in the report

40%

60%

8%

2018
2017

16%

4% 2018

24%

2017

29%

2018

33%

2017

71%

An explanation of what the company does?

In the business model

14%

80%

100%

No

Of those identifying <IR> capitals, which ones are referred to?
100%
80%

100% 94%
77%

69%

60%

74%

59%

49%

94%

81%

63%

2018

40%

31%

20%

25%

0%
Financial
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Intellectual

Manufactured

Human

Social &
relationship

Natural

2017
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Compliance – positive trends
An entity’s purpose, its strategy, and its business
model are inter-related concepts. The strategy sets
out how the purpose will be fulfilled. But a key part of
setting the strategy is understanding the organisation’s
business model, particularly the relevant levers
available for directors to push and pull to be able to
increase outputs and create long term value.
The business model disclosure is not only required
by law, but is one of the first things investors look for
in an annual report4, so it should explain what the
company does, how it does it, and the impact that
the company’s activities has. 94 companies clearly
disclosed a business model, or information resembling
such (2017: 95). Of the 6 companies that did not clearly
disclose a business model, one of these conceded
that their business model was being revised to reflect
a new strategy and approach, along with a revised set
of KPIs. The others all referred to the term “business
model” within the standard boilerplate directors’
responsibilities statement, but none provided any
other clear disclosure in this regard.
Using a combination of words and diagrams remains
the most popular means of articulating the business
model, with 58 companies doing so (2017: 55). It was
good to see that of those presenting some or all of
the business model disclosure in a visual manner,
60% of these visuals were deemed to have aided the
discussion, compared to only half of those last year.
The graph opposite identifies certain elements
considered useful by investors to be included within
the business model disclosure, as highlighted in the
FRC’s Financial Reporting Lab project5. It is good to see
an increase overall across all elements, although there
still remains scope for improvement.
More companies are identifying and articulating in
their business models those inputs which are key to
the success of their business, as is suggested in the
FRC’s Guidance to the Strategic Report. In particular,
over three quarters of companies are identifying those
key sources of value in the form of off-balance sheet
resources, relationships and other dependencies.

The identification of inputs is similar to the
<IR> Framework’s notion of ‘capitals’ within
its value creation process. We were encouraged
to see 35 companies (2017: 32) clearly considering
the <IR> notion of ‘capitals’ in their business
models, often demonstrating the outcomes of
the business model on each capital, going beyond
the FRC’s recommendation of identifying just key
inputs. Interestingly, these companies were
spread fairly evenly across the FTSE,
demonstrating that it is not only the largest of
companies that see the benefit in understanding
and articulating their business model in this way.
On average, these companies identified a total of
6 capitals, with the most identified by one
company being 12 different capitals.

Of those that identified key sources of value in the
form of off-balance sheet resources, relationships and
other dependencies, either in their business model or
elsewhere in the report, 96% went on to provide an
indication of how the key relationships and resources
are being maintained and enhanced. For example,
where a company’s employees or its relationships
with customers were identified, maintenance and
enhancement of these relationships often focused
around providing a supportive environment or a
challenging or interesting job role for employees, and
staying close to customers to understand their needs
and adapting products or services accordingly.
The most useful disclosures regarding maintenance
and enhancement of these key relationships then
went on to provide either evidence or some sort
of measurement of maintenance and how this
impacted value creation. Examples include employee
engagement scores, retention rates and details of
internal progression for employees; when these
increased (presumably as a result of the company’s
actions), employees would be happier and more
motivated and thus productivity would increase, thus
generating more value (see section 6). For customer
relationships, Net Promotor Scores were often cited;
again, as the company actively seeks to increase the
score, the relationship strengthens and more value is
created for the company, e.g. through repeat orders.
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This issue of maintaining and enhancing key relationships
highlights the importance of stakeholder engagement
to understand stakeholder needs, and the close link
between this and value creation (see section 4). It is
expected that the renewed focus on directors’ duties
in s172 (including the requirement to “foster business
relationships with suppliers, customers and others”)
and also on the NFR Directive, which either encourage
or require disclosure on these non-financial sources of
value, will increase the quality of disclosure about key
off balance sheet resources, relationships and other
dependencies.
Compliance – problem areas
Despite the vast majority disclosing a business
model, it was disappointing to see only a small increase
in the number of companies describing in their
business model what their business actually does.
Given many readers will turn straight to the business
model, and that the business model lies at the heart of
a company’s strategy, this is something that we would
expect companies to be addressing.
All but one company identified in their report the
stakeholders it considers in how they do business,
such as employees, customers and suppliers. For
some companies this was obvious from their business
model, for example by clearly identifying value created
(or ‘outcomes’) for different stakeholder groups. An
example of setting this out clearly is the business model
presented by St James’s Place plc. However, for a lot of
companies this was less explicit and, in the absence of
descriptions of clear stakeholder engagement activities
(which would, in turn, inform the business model – see
section 4) the identification of key stakeholder groups
was hidden in the detail of the report. Disclosure of
the value created for other stakeholders that supports
economic value generation for the company itself is
one of the desired attributes of a business model, as
per the FRC’s Lab report. For instance, investors want
to understand the value to customers of the product
/ service that will likely result in future sales. But this
is difficult to determine if it is not clear in the business
model who the other stakeholders are.
Investors also need to know how successful directors
have been in creating value. The FRC’s revised Guidance
on the Strategic Report2 includes a paragraph stating
that a company’s strategy should be reflected in its key
performance indicators (KPIs) i.e. the discussion of KPIs
should allow an assessment of progress against the
strategy. Only 46 companies linked all of their KPIs to
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their strategy in a meaningful way, as opposed to simply
providing a cross-reference, an increase on the 37 which
did so in 2017. A clear explanation of how the strategy
and KPIs are related enables investors to ascertain how
successful the directors have been in attaining what they
set out to achieve. Brewin Dolphin Holdings PLC clearly
linked its KPIs to each relevant strand of their strategy
to facilitate measurement of their performance to date,
as well as providing an indication, where applicable, of
potential challenges to success.
Looking beyond compliance
Although an area of constant evolution,
sustainability reporting is no longer a new concept,
with many industries having reported on their
environmental impact for over 30 years and the Global
Reporting Initiative introducing broader sustainability
reporting through their first framework of guidance in
1998. So it’s not unreasonable to expect that the recent
focus on s172 responsibilities and the NFR Directive
disclosures would focus directors’ minds on broader
corporate social responsibility (‘CSR’) matters. Perhaps,
then, it is a symptom of the corporate wheels moving
slowly that for many companies there remains a lack
of connection between the specific thinking around
sustainability and broader strategic-level thinking.
Three companies were deemed not to include any
significant CSR disclosures and 49 companies disclosed a
separate CSR section with no reference to these matters
within their strategy. More positively, 38 companies
included some elements of CSR within their strategy,
while the remaining ten companies fully integrated their
CSR disclosures within their broader company strategy,
thus avoiding the need for a separate full CSR section.
G4S plc identified its key stakeholder groups upfront
and linked each to the relevant strand of its strategy. The
strategic review discussion then incorporated all material
CSR disclosures, without the need for a separate section.
16 companies (2017: 12) made reference to the UN’s
Sustainable Development Goals6 (“SDGs”), a set of 17
goals which were signed up to in 2015 by 193 world
leaders with an aim to end extreme poverty, inequality
and address climate change by 2030. Although most of
the companies making reference were from the FTSE
100, they were from a number of industries, including
telecoms, financial services, media and oil & gas. Most
of the references to SDGs were where companies had
mapped their sustainability strategy to the SDGs, with
two companies bringing in the SDGs within their wider
group strategy.
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Linked to this, five companies made reference to the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures’
Guidelines (‘TCFD’) which encourage consideration
of climate risk, while another four indicated that they
had complied with them. A further six companies
did otherwise describe the Board’s oversight of
climate related risks and opportunities, albeit with no
reference to TCFD.
The FRC has referred to both the SDGs and the TCFD,
among others, as sources of guidance to Boards7 when
considering the impact on environment with respect to
their s172 responsibilities (see section 4).

	Consider how progress against your strategy will
be measured. One helpful way is through clearly
linking the strategy to the relevant KPIs.
Examples of disclosure
The Weir Group PLC clearly articulated in its
business model what it does, what the key resources it
relies upon are and who their key stakeholders are and
the value created for them.
The Weir Group PLC

Linkage to principal risks, particularly those which are
new or have changed, is valuable in demonstrating
the resilience of the business model and how it can
react to changes in the market environment. The
issue of Brexit was widely discussed, with half of all
companies discussing within their principal risks how
it may specifically impact them. As shown in the graph,
54 companies (2017: 31) discussed, to varying extents,
whether Brexit might impact their business model. While
uncertainty may abound, directors’ assessment of Brexit
and its possible impact on the business’ ability to create
value in the long term provides deeper insight into the
business and how directors are carrying out their s172
duties to promote the success of the company.
What to watch out for
	Review your business model disclosure and
challenge whether it describes what the company
does and identifies who the key stakeholders are.

See more examples of disclosure in the
electronic version of this publication.

	Of those key resources, relationships and other
off-balance sheet sources of value creation
identified in the business model, consider how
these are maintained and enhanced. Useful
disclosure includes evidence and measurement
of maintenance and a description of how this
impacted value creation.
	Challenge whether these key stakeholders and
the value created for them by the company are
being reflected in the strategy. Incorporating
strands of a separate sustainability strategy
into the main company strategy breaks down
organisational silos and leads to a more coherent,
comprehensive and connected strategy.
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4. Stakeholders

29

companies refer to
s172 (2017: 17)

There was an indication that the following s172 considerations were considered
somewhere in the annual report
66%

Reﬂect acting fairly as between members of
the company

44%
87%

Desirability of the company maintaining a
reputation for high standards of business conduct

73%
97%

The impact of the company’s operations on
the community and the environment

87%
85%

Fostering the company's business relationships
with customers

69%
71%

Fostering the company's business relationships
with suppliers

38%
95%

The interests of the company’s employees
were considered

2018

88%
20%

0%

2017

40%

60%

80%

100%

Of those 70 companies in scope, which elements of the NFR Directive were identiﬁable?
50%

20%

33%
24%

30%

34%
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27%

26%
8%

10%
0%

Named the policy only

49%

46%

40%
30%

58%

58%

60%

Environment

Employees

15%

Social matters

Described the policy
19%

Anti-bribery &
anti-corruption

25%
13%

Human rights

Details of due dilligence
over identiﬁed policy
Outcomes of the
identiﬁed policy
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Compliance – positive trends
Over the past year there has continued to be
a focus by government and in the media around
directors’ responsibilities under s172, specifically their
duty to promote the long term success of the company
taking into regard the impact on a broad group of
stakeholders such as employees, customers, suppliers
and the environment. It is therefore no surprise that
more companies are referring to this duty in their
annual report, with 29 doing so (2017: 17). However,
only 8 companies (2017: 8) went on to provide a further
comment to allow shareholders to assess how the
directors have performed their duty. New regulations
are applicable to periods commencing on or after
1 January 2019, which requires companies of a
significant size (both public and private) to explain how
they have complied with s1728. This is clearly an area
which companies will need to consider further.
But how do directors carry out this s172 duty? First
steps are to identify relevant stakeholder groups to
the company, aside from shareholders. As the graphic
opposite demonstrates, and in line with those key
sources of value identified in the business model
(see section 3), most commonly these are customers
and employees.
Next, directors must engage with and listen to
those other stakeholders. Although there is no legal
requirement to disclose detail around engagement
activities specifically, encouragingly 94 companies
(2017: 90) described, to varying levels of detail, how
they engaged with their stakeholders. Of these, 13%
(2017:23%) focused only on their engagement with
investors, while the remainder covered how they
engaged with at least one non‑investor stakeholder
group. Most commonly this included conducting
employee engagement surveys or getting customer
feedback. Often the discussion covered only one or
two stakeholder groups and frequently was dotted
about the annual report. The most useful disclosures
around engagement were those that presented the
full picture, identifying each main stakeholder group,
describing their engagement with each, what the
subject of engagement was (e.g. customer service or
quality) and explaining why this was relevant.

Stakeholder relationships and the capacity
of an organisation to respond to key
stakeholders’ legitimate needs and interests are
at the heart of integrated thinking, which
underpins integrated reporting. An integrated
report should provide insight into the nature and
quality of the organisation’s relationships with its
key stakeholders, including how and to what
extent the organisation understands, takes into
account and responds to their legitimate needs
and interests. The <IR> Framework states that by
doing so, the integrated report enhances
transparency and accountability.
Insight from engagement activities then needs to feed
its way back to the boardroom, the board needs to
react to this feedback, develop high level intentions
and translate them into more precise policies for
the company (see below regarding NFR Directive
disclosures). However, as noted in section 9, there
is little insight around this currently, with only 10
companies indicating that stakeholder feedback has
any impact on board decision making.
Despite this missing link to the boardroom, almost
half of those engaging with stakeholders (2017: 36%)
went on to describe an outcome of some engagement
and what they have done differently as a result. 8
companies provided outcomes solely relating to
investor engagement, all of which related to directors’
remuneration. 30 provided outcomes solely relating
to engagement with other stakeholders, while the
remaining 7 provided examples relating to engagement
with both investors and at least one other stakeholder
group. Nearly all of the descriptions of change were
in response to employee or customer feedback.
One related to changes made following feedback
from regulators, and one mining company provided
outcomes of engaging with local communities.
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The focus on employees and customers mirrors the
common identification of these groups as inputs
into value creation in the business model disclosures
(see section 3). It seems that companies find these
engagement activities and disclosures easier for
some stakeholders than others. Possibly this reflects
an underlying current of short-termism: a company
may adversely impact the local environment for a
while before it becomes visible, whereas it would
immediately feel the pinch if customer or employee
relationships worsened, so companies need to keep
a closer eye on them. Perhaps because of a more
direct and more observable impact of employees or
customers on cash flows, companies are more readily
paying attention to those stakeholders and measuring
the business’ impact on them. In turn it is simply more
difficult to measure interactions with local communities
and other stakeholders, not just because of indirect
financial implications but also because of difficulties
gathering data and knowing what data to gather.
Compliance – problem areas
70 companies fell within the scope of the newly
effective NFR Directive (19 companies had financial
years beginning prior to 1 January 2017, while 11
companies had fewer than 500 employees). The legal
requirement refers to a “non-financial information
statement” to be included within the strategic report.
In December 2017 the FRC published some FAQs9 to
accompany the NFR Directive, one of which confirms
that the disclosures required do not have to be
either a discrete element within the strategic report
or a separate statement. Instead, companies are
encouraged to consider how this information relates
to other information in the strategic report and
incorporate it therein. This view has been updated in
the FRC’s revised Guidance on the Strategic Report2 to
make clear that there must be a separate statement
within the strategic report, but that this can include
cross-references to where the required information
can be found in the main body of the strategic report.
Only one company presented a standalone
non-financial information statement, which took the
form of a table detailing the disclosure requirements
and cross-referring to where the information could be
found. A handful of companies clearly identified the
elements of the NFR Directive (environmental matters,
employees, social matters, respect for human rights, and
anti-corruption and anti-bribery matters) and provided
some cross-references to where some of the information
was located. One company was explicit in stating that the
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required NFR Directive information had been integrated
into the strategic report, thus “promoting cohesive
reporting of non-financial matters”. In many cases the
individual policies were named within the principal risks
disclosures as an example of a mitigating activity, where
relevant, and then further information was included
within the CSR disclosures. 19 companies, spread fairly
evenly across the FTSE, included some or all of the
required disclosures outside of the strategic report (for
example in the corporate governance statement) without
cross referring to it from the strategic report. Given the
non-financial information is required to be included in the
strategic report the placement of these new disclosures
within it (or cross referenced from it) is important.
Given the overlap with existing disclosure
requirements, it was in many cases actually quite
difficult to find some of the NFR Directive disclosures.
For example, quoted companies are already required to
include information about the company’s employees,
to the extent necessary for an understanding of the
development, performance or position of the company.
The NFR Directive requires a description of the policies
pursued in relation to employees, along with any due
diligence and outcomes of those policies. While many
companies described their aims (such as focusing on
the diversity of the workforce, or to achieve zero-level
accidents) or specific actions (such as carrying out
engagement surveys or investment in training and
progression), it was often not clear whether this was
a description of a specific underlying policy. Similarly,
some companies named some specific policies but
then did not link them to any other text to demonstrate
how they had been applied.
If a company does not pursue policies in relation to one
or more of the NFR Directive matters, it must provide a
clear and reasoned explanation for the company’s not
doing so. This was very rare in practice, with only four
companies doing so in relation to the environment and
two for social matters.
In contrast, the NFR Directive disclosures around antibribery and anti-corruption were new, with no previous
requirements in these areas. It was therefore much
easier to identify the disclosures. 61 of those in scope
and 15 outside scope discussed both anti-bribery and
anti-corruption in their report, even if briefly. A further
four companies in scope of the regulations discussed
either bribery or corruption, but not both, leaving the
remaining five companies in scope not discussing the
matter at all.
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Many companies enhanced their disclosures around
human rights with information regarding slavery and
human trafficking, linking to their other reporting
requirements under the Modern Slavery Act.
24 companies disclosed in their annual report some
or all of the detail required under their reporting duty
on modern slavery with 38 others providing a
cross-reference to their modern slavery reporting.
The area of most difficulty appeared to be disclosure
of social matters. Albeit ‘social’ matters are not
defined, we felt that only 23 of the 70 companies in
scope had clearly named or described a policy in
relation to social matters, although a further two
did indicate that they do not pursue policies in this
area. Some others may have felt that they had also
provided relevant information, based on a broader
interpretation of ‘social’. While many companies
include a lot of information about their interaction with
local communities, most commonly their charitable
fundraising efforts, for some it was to the point where
it is questionable as to whether this information is
truly material to the annual report. For others it raises
the question of whether they have missed the mark
a little, too, by providing information which does not
give any meaningful insight into the impact of the
company’s activities on social matters. Anglo American
plc provided a good example of a social matters
policy, their “Social Way”, which included details of due
diligence and discussed the outcomes as well.
The requirement to disclose any due diligence processes
implemented by the company in pursuance of the
relevant policies was addressed in relation to about
half of those policies disclosed. Overall the level of
detail provided varied from vague to extensive, and the
extent of the due diligence ranged from internal reviews
and internal audit to external assurance. What was
particularly refreshing was that the information disclosed
seemed to be specific to each company, rather than
reeling off a new boilerplate disclosure. Moreover, in
many cases the due diligence resulted in a report to the
Board, or at least a sub-committee. This supports the
upcoming s172 disclosures (see below) by demonstrating
how directors fulfil their responsibilities in practice.
Where outcomes of policies are measurable such as
environmental emissions or employee accident rate,
these were clearly disclosed. For other outcomes, such
as for human rights policies, it was notable that these
are more difficult to determine or articulate.

Looking beyond compliance
The new requirements of the government’s
package of corporate governance reforms (being
the new regulations cited above, along with a new
Corporate Governance Code10) are not applicable until
periods commencing 1 January 2019. However, as
shown in the graph opposite, perhaps unsurprisingly
given the renewed focus, more companies are
disclosing information this year around how directors
have considered their responsibilities under s172 in all
of those areas noted. A few of these areas also overlap
with the new disclosure requirements under the NFR
Directive and therefore the same disclosures may be
meeting both requirements.
Almost all companies are providing information
around how they have had regard to the interests
of employees. Reference to the new gender pay gap
reporting, and other employee performance metrics
(see section 6) also evidenced how directors are
taking employees’ interests into account. This focus
on employees is reflected in the number of companies
including employees as key sources of value within
their business model (see section 3).
Many more companies are indicating how they have
fostered their relationships with their suppliers. Often
this was through linking in to their human rights
policies, and how they worked with their suppliers to
ensure that their standards were being adhered to
throughout the supply chain. Four companies disclosed
some or all of the detail required under the reporting
duty on payment practices and performance (which
is otherwise required outside of the annual report for
periods commencing on or after 6 April 2017), with two
others providing a cross-reference to their reporting.
Acting fairly between members was usually
demonstrated through the description of shareholder
engagement whereby private shareholders were given
opportunity for engagement and feedback outside of
merely attending the AGM. Most companies disclosed
this information within their corporate governance
report, with 57 doing so. A good example of this
disclosure is Barclays PLC which detailed engagement
throughout the year with institutional investors and
private investors.
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A number of companies provided examples of
how the directors had taken into account broader
factors in their decision making process. Britvic plc
explained how, as part of their business capability
programme, they had consulted with stakeholders
and demonstrated how they had taken into account
the interests of employees when relocating their
manufacturing plants. Mears Group PLC developed
a portal that provides detailed insight into local
demographics, helping to identify areas of deprivation,
which now drives their decision making by enabling
them to target intervention and outreach to the
most disadvantaged groups and focus on the right
outcomes. Such examples may assist directors in
articulating how they have performed their duty
under s172.
Essentially, s172’s requirement to take into
account the impacts of decisions made
upon key stakeholders is akin to “integrated
thinking” under the <IR> Framework, which
encourages this multi-capital approach to
decision-making. Hilton Food Group plc
explained how they factor into their decision
making their customers’ desire for reducing
waste and minimising the environmental impact
of their operations. As such the company has
been working with suppliers to reduce the
amount of packaging which, in turn, reduces cost
and environmental impact.
There is no current requirement to disclose in the
annual report any details of stakeholder feedback
when reporting on major events during the year. It
was pleasing, therefore, that a handful of companies
discussed the mechanism for gathering stakeholder
feedback in such circumstances. Marks and Spencer
Group plc highlighted how their Business Involvement
Group (where elected employees feedback to a
national committee, the chair of which attends board
meetings twice a year) helped to manage significant
changes in the company, resulting in employee
involvement being at the centre of the Board process.
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What to watch out for
	New regulations applicable to accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
require all large companies to describe in their
strategic report how they have complied with the
requirements of section 172.
	Ensure Board processes are in place to enable
the new s172 statement and meaningful NFR
Disclosure statement to be made.
	Note that recent amendments made to the FRC’s
Guidance on the Strategic Report encourage
companies to include a separate non-financial
information statement within their strategic
report, which includes clear cross references
to where the required content is covered in the
strategic report, if not in the statement itself. This
is consistent with the approach required for the
s172 statement.
	Both the SDGs (which can be incorporated into
the company’s strategy) and TCFD guidance
(which can be used as a tool for considering
climate risk) are recommended as sources of
guidance by the FRC. These can be referred
to when demonstrating how the board is
considering environmental impact.
	An engagement programme for all relevant
stakeholders should target not just those who
are more vocal or easy to engage with, and
should be supported by a process for feedback
to the board.
	In particular, the new Corporate Governance
Code provides a choice of three workforce
engagement mechanisms (a director appointed
from the workforce, a formal workforce advisory
panel or a designated non-executive director).
	Challenge whether your NFR Directive
disclosures are clear, with policies identified and
described, and due diligence over and outcomes
from those policies discussed. Where there is no
policy in place, this must be clearly disclosed.
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Examples of disclosure
Marks and Spencer Group plc identified their
5 key stakeholder groups and summarised how they
have engaged with each in the year.

National Grid plc referred directly to s172 in the Letter
from the Chairman, and provided an overview of how
the directors have performed their duties.

Marks and Spencer Group plc

National Grid plc

See more examples of disclosure in the
electronic version of this publication.
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5. Alternative performance measures
and
KPIs
5. Alternative
performance measures and KPIs
1/3
46%
of Chairmen's Statements included
proﬁt APMs and no IFRS equivalent

of companies included an appendix or
section dedicated to APMs

8%

92%
71%

21%

provided an explanation of
APMs but

No explanation

of these were generic

Generic explanation

Non-generic explanation

71%

Common types of non-ﬁnancial KPIs (for those with such metrics)
75%

80%
60%
40%

53%

41% 39%

66%

52%

42%
15% 12%

20%

53%

28% 26%
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Other

Average number of non-ﬁnancial KPIs
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The use of alternative performance measures (APMs),
often referred to as non-GAAP measures, continues to
be a common feature across UK annual reports. These
measures are intended to offer investors additional
information on the reporting company’s performance,
in addition to the statutory GAAP measures. ESMA’s
Guidelines19 on the use of APMs, together with the
FRC’s recent publication of their corporate reporting
thematic review findings11, provide the framework
and key guidance to be applied when using APMs in
corporate reporting. This area continues to be a hot
topic for regulators and while there have been high
level improvements where more companies appear to
be applying the basic principles of ESMA’s Guidelines,
the pace of change has been slow.
In terms of where APMs are to be found in reports, 96
companies presented financial APMs within an up-front
financial highlights section, and 91% of these included
adjusted profit measures. Only 32% of companies
presenting APMs in their financial highlights included
adjusted sales measures. It seems that adjusted
sales measures feature more commonly in detailed
performance analyses, for example in the Chief
Financial Officer’s statement.
81% (2017: 81%) of companies had a Chairman’s
statement containing APMs and 82% (2017: 89%) a
CEO’s statement with APMs. The majority of these
statements included adjusted profit measures. For
example, 60% and 66% of companies surveyed
presented a Chairman’s and CEO’s statement,
respectively, which contained adjusted profit measures.
A continuing trend is that APMs, within the scope of the
ESMA Guidelines, are being used by companies in their
key performance indicators (KPIs). Of the 90 companies
(2017:92) that clearly identified their KPIs only one did
not include an APM, in 2017 all 92 companies included
at least one APM.

Whilst APMs can be both financial and non-financial,
the ESMA Guidelines only apply to financial APMs.
We consider the use of non-financial metrics, which
did feature in a number of companies’ operational
highlights, in our discussion of KPIs below.
Compliance – positive trends
According to the ESMA Guidelines, APMs should
be reconciled to the most directly reconcilable line
item, subtotal or total presented in the financial
statements. It is positive to see that 86% of companies
reporting an alternative profit measure within the
highlights section did reconcile back to an IFRS profit
measure for all profit measures reported. In contrast,
it was disappointing that only 29% of companies
reporting an alternative sales measure provided a
reconciliation albeit that this was driven by a lack of
reconciliation for companies reporting a like-for-like or
constant currency sales movement.
The Guidelines require the provision of comparatives
for all APMs and we have seen that approximately 80%
of companies with alternative profit measures in their
highlights section provided this information.
Looking at KPIs, in an improvement from 2017, 46
companies (2017:37) linked all of their KPIs to the
company’s strategy in a meaningful way, as opposed
to simply providing a cross-reference. This is a step
in the right direction for linking together each area of
the strategic report, although clearly there is still room
for improvement by many. 71 reports evidenced, in
some form, linkage between companies’ KPIs and their
directors’ remuneration, demonstrating alignment of
reward with success of the company.

Carrying on through the annual report, 68 companies
(2017: 68) presented APMs on the face of their income
statements (excluding unadjusted ‘operating profit’
lines). These measures would be considered APMs
under the ESMA Guidelines were it not for the fact that
the ESMA Guidelines apply only outside of the financial
statements.
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Compliance – problem areas
Almost a third of Chairmen’s and CEOs’
statements did not make any reference to GAAP profit
measures when discussing adjusted profit measures.
This echoes the FRC’s findings from their recent
corporate reporting thematic review of APMs where
they noted that companies would be challenged if
GAAP measures were not clearly highlighted early in
the narrative discussions presented in the strategic
report. A similar concern exists in terms of undue
prominence being given to non-GAAP measures in
the highlights section of the annual report. 8% of
companies failed to present any IFRS profit measures
in the highlights despite presenting alternative profit
measures whilst 20% of companies were open to
challenge given they had utilised bold text or graphs to
emphasise APMs.
It was good to see that the majority of companies,
80%, provided some explanation for why the profit
APMs in their annual reports were useful. However,
disappointingly 71% of these explanations appeared to
be generic or high level. The ESMA Guidelines require
companies to explain the specific purpose of each APM
and why management believe that the APM provides
useful information regarding the financial position,
cash flows or financial performance. Many companies
simply stated that APMs were used to present
additional information about underlying performance
without a clear explanation of how and why each APM
achieved this objective. In line with previous years, it is
worrying that some companies present APMs as being
better, more representative or more meaningful than
IFRS figures. The FRC, in their 2017 thematic review,
noted that stating the reason why an APM is useful
rather than simply asserting that it is would improve
explanations.
Of the 68 companies that included APMs on the face
of the income statement, there were still 16, or 24%,
that failed to include an accounting policy relating to
adjusting items. The FRC expects to see a policy to
ensure that any non-IFRS figures are appropriately and
sufficiently defined and why certain items are adjusted
for is explained. On a similar note, despite their
prevalence, it was interesting that only 19 companies
had disclosed critical judgements relating to such
metrics in their income statement under IAS 1.
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We saw a slight fall in companies using a collective
term to capture multiple adjusting items on the face
of the income statement to 48 from 51 in 2017. Only
11 companies chose to describe these adjusting
items as ‘exceptional’ compared to 20 last year and no
companies used the phrase ’non-recurring’ compared
to three in 2017. This is a positive step, given that the
FRC has highlighted use of terms such as ‘exceptional’
and ‘non-recurring’ as requiring explanation as they
often do not reflect the nature of adjusting items. The
number of companies referring to such items merely
as ‘adjusting’, which does not give the impression of a
one-off basis, rose from six to ten.
The Companies Act 2006 defines KPIs as factors by
reference to which the development, performance or
position of the company’s business can be measured
effectively. Given that KPIs are chosen by each
individual company, we would expect them to be
reflected, in a large number of cases, in the highlights
section of the annual report. As these are the key
balances that management look at, we expect that they
would wish to communicate these up front to readers.
Disappointingly, we found that only 12% of reports
included all financial KPIs within the highlights and 84%
of reports included measures in the highlights which
were not KPIs, albeit it is not unexpected that non-KPIs
may be highlighted in addition in some cases.
Looking beyond compliance
46 companies provided a distinct section, such
as an appendix, within the annual report focused on
APMs. This was more companies than expected and
reflected an improvement in the clarity of reporting
on APMs across a spectrum of companies, with 26% of
those with a separate section coming from outside the
FTSE 350.
There was a slight fall in companies identifying
non-financial KPIs from 74 to 71 but no change in
the average number of non-financial KPIs identified,
which remained at four per company. It is clear that
this focus on transparency around non-financial KPIs
relating to employees, customer satisfaction and
health and safety, among others, is being driven by
larger companies with FTSE 100 companies surveyed
identifying six non-financial KPIs on average.
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27 companies identified environmental KPIs (2017: 24),
20 of which (2017: 19) included greenhouse gas/carbon
footprint-related KPIs. This is a slight increase on 2017
but still a relatively low percentage of companies.
See section 6 for a discussion of employee-related
metrics that investors are calling for in the context of
better understanding long-term value creation.
What to watch out for
	Consider whether the use of graphs or bold
lettering could give more prominence to APMs
than the associated IFRS GAAP measures.

	Identify whether KPIs are omitted from up-front
highlights and if so assess whether they really are
‘key’ performance indicators.
	Particularly for smaller companies, consider
whether adequate levels of non-financial KPIs
have been identified.
	Consider the views of investors outlined in the
FRC’s Lab report12 from June 2018 and whether
disclosure of APMs can be improved in this
regard.

	Avoid the use of generic explanations for the
description of purpose for APMs.

Examples of disclosure
Bioquell PLC provided a reconciliation of a revenue-based APM (constant currency sales) to IFRS revenue
and an explanation of why it is used.
Bioquell PLC

Pendragon PLC’s Chairman’s statement provided a table with APMs as well as equivalent IFRS totals.
Pendragon PLC

See more examples of
disclosure in the electronic
version of this publication.
25
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6. Long term value creation
6. Long term value creation

76

companies discussed the value
created for at least one other type of
stakeholder, other than shareholders

1/4

of companies referred to assuring
some non-ﬁnancial or CSR information
in some way

Employee-related metrics (other than gender) the Investment Association are calling for:
Headcount
Total headcount:

6

distinguished between full-time
and part-time employees

6

gave diversity metrics (other than
gender)

Employee turnover

19

gave employee turnover metrics, with
4 splitting between planned and
regrettable turnover

Employee engagement

38

provided employee
engagement scores

26

A further

3

did both the above

Investment in training

38

discussed investment in training and
professional development but only 9
discussed progression and promotion rates

What the metrics mean

8

explained, for at least one metric provided,
what it meant in terms of progress towards
strategic objectives or productivity
improvements
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The use of KPIs and alternative performance measures
in discussing the company’s long term value creation
was considered separately in section 5.
The non-financial information statement and the
outcomes of policies are discussed in section 4.
Looking beyond compliance
As well as getting a picture of past financial
performance, investors are increasingly looking to
understand the company’s broader value creation
story and how sustainable the business model is.
Companies are responding to this by considering the
value created for broader stakeholders, and discussing
this in more detail than last year. 76 companies
(2017: 63) discussed the value created for at least one
other type of stakeholder, other than shareholders,
and 36 (2017: 24) of these quantified aspects of that
value in some way. Some companies, such as Mondi
plc, provided the quantification in the business model
disclosure, identifying their “key outputs”; some,
such as Howdens Joinery Group Plc, presented the
information in a double page spread; others provided
the information within the narrative of the report.
Quantified value created for other stakeholders
included amount spent on research and development,
number of training hours spent by employees, value of
social contribution, value of total taxes paid, value of
supplier payments and value of dividends paid.
Something that a few companies are seeking to
illustrate is how total value generated has been
allocated amongst stakeholders through use of a pie
chart or table. ‘Value’ in this context is interpreted in a
variety of ways. This year we saw a company explaining
how ‘direct economic value’, defined as gross revenues
was allocated e.g. through operating costs, employee
costs, taxes, community investment and reinvestment.
Another provided a ‘value distribution’ diagram with
value distribution defined as operating profit before
taking into account personnel costs, depreciation,
amortisation and impairments.

A balance needs to be struck, though. We felt 11
companies didn’t touch on short term value creation
i.e. didn’t discuss how they expect to perform in
the coming one to two years. Conversely, 21%
were focusing on short-term profits at the expense
of discussing long-term strategy, growth and
sustainability.
In demonstrating this balance between interests of
current shareholders as a whole and having regard
to long term viability and the interests of broader
stakeholders, 38 discussed a proposed future
allocation of capital aside from paying out profits to
shareholders. This included, for example, specific
funds being allocated to capital expenditure, R&D and
training.
In terms of shareholder returns and the availability
of distributable profits, encouragingly, 32 companies
(2017: 17) disclosed a single figure of the level of
retained profits available to pay dividends from, with
just over half of those companies electing to provide
such information in their financial statements. A further
four companies went on to describe which of their
reserves were distributable, albeit without providing
a total single figure. This progress is consistent with
the findings of the FRC’s financial reporting lab, who
published their most recent findings in this area in
October 20175.
A number of themes around the longer term and
capital management are picked up in the Investment
Association’s Long Term Reporting Guidance13. This
was published in response to calls from investors
for improvements in the explanation of the long
term drivers of value creation, to allow them to judge
whether capital is being utilised efficiently. Other
potential areas for improvement included:
•• Providing greater clarity of the drivers of productivity
within the business and how planned investments
are expected to drive productivity gains over the
longer term.
•• Explaining the environmental and social risks and
opportunities that may significantly affect the
company’s short and long term value, and how they
might impact on the future of the business (see
section 7 – Risks and opportunities)
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•• Explaining the Board’s role in shaping, overseeing
and monitoring culture (see sections 1 and 9). The
guidance makes it clear that investors believe it is
the board’s role to determine the purpose of the
company and to ensure that the company’s values,
strategy and business model align to this purpose.
•• Conveying an understanding of the role played by
the company’s workforce in generating sustainable,
long-term value. Various metrics are being called for,
as illustrated.
Linked to this, although not required to be disclosed
in the annual report itself, 14 companies included
some or all of their required gender pay gap reporting
(required by 4 April 2018) in their annual report and
a further 12 provided a cross reference to where the
information could be found.
As investors are increasingly relying on non-financial
measures in making their investment decisions, the
perceived expectation gap – that the information in
the strategic report is of equal quality to that included
in the financial statements and subject to the
same level of assurance becomes more apparent.
Traditionally many companies have sought limited
assurance on their sustainability reports, but not on
all their non-financial KPIs, which in some cases may
be relied upon more by investors, e.g. subscriber
numbers, customer satisfaction.
A quarter of companies referred to assurance (internal
and/or external) of some non-financial or sustainability
information. Given the investor focus on these metrics,
where additional assurance is obtained, it would be
worthwhile making reference to this within the annual
report. In some cases this assurance went beyond
traditional sustainability information, e.g. gaining
assurance over performance conditions for bonuses or
testing anti-corruption controls. The majority of these
referred to frameworks, the more common ones being
various ISO Frameworks on health and safety and the
environment. Ten companies referred to assurance
over specific non-financial metrics. Most commonly
these were greenhouse gas emissions metrics, now
a required disclosure in the annual report, but also
covered were safety and other environmental metrics.
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What to watch out for
	Ensure processes are in place to enable the
Board to make the new s172 statement and to
provide a meaningful non-financial information
statement.
	Remember to use the right materiality filter when
including non-financial information. The strategic
report is required to include information that
is material for shareholders which means it is
integral to the success of the business.
	Check there is appropriate balance between
discussion of value creation over both the long
and the short term.
	Consider quantifying the value you have created
in the year for both shareholders and other
stakeholders.
	Look at the FRC’s revised Guidance on the
Strategic Report for ideas on how to explain
capital allocation and dividend policy decisions as
well as value created for broader stakeholders.
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Examples of disclosure
Kaz Minerals PLC included a table setting out how the economic value generated is distributed.
Kaz Minerals PLC

Mondi plc provided a value distribution diagram.
Mondi plc
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7. Risks and opportunities
The number of
principal risks ranged
from 4 to 24 with an
average of 10

4
10
24

1

44

company identiﬁed climate change
as a principal risk in its own right or
as part of a broader risk

companies referred to the General Data
Protection Regulation as part of a data
protection risk or another principal risk

Information provided
on risk appetite:

Principal risks disclosed
5%

Brexit (general)

2%
23%

Brexit (company speciﬁc)

Climate change risk

Workplace culture

19%

10%

2%
0%

Meaningful for each
principal risk

9%
0%
77%

Cyber crime/attack/threat

67%
49%

Cyber - Failure of IT systems

42%

Less detailed
information

44%
19%

Inability to keep up with
technological change

14%
18%

Deﬁned beneﬁt pension

19%
28%

Tax

14%
0%
FTSE 350

30

49%

61%

Cyber - Data protection etc

Other

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

41%
None
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Companies are required to disclose their principal risks
and uncertainties, as well as their risk identification
process and management activities in order to
comply with the requirements of the Companies
Act and the Code. The NFR Directive, which became
effective for periods commencing on or after 1 January
2017, expanded on this to require that non-financial
information statements include any principal risks
relating, as a minimum, to environmental matters,
social and employee matters, respect for human
rights and anti-corruption and anti-bribery matters.
These disclosures must include, where relevant and
proportionate, the company’s business relationships,
products or services which are likely to cause an
adverse impact in those matters. The FRC published
guidance on risk management and internal control in
201421 and their financial reporting lab (‘the Lab’) also
issued a report in late 201714, detailing the specific
entity information that investors are focused on and
find most valuable.
Compliance – positive trends
Per the Lab report, investors like to know how
changes have evolved during the period, so it was
positive to see that companies have increasingly sought
to provide such insight with 76% (2017: 62%) indicating
whether individual risks had changed in significance
during the year, often by means of up or down arrows.
This disclosure provides insight to investors about how
principal risks are evolving but also helps evidence that
those charged with governance are actively monitoring
and responding to the changing risks.
Only four companies identified material uncertainties
around going concern (2017: two). Better reports linked
going concern disclosures, the principal risks and their
viability statements. The longer term viability of the
business and how the business model, strategy and
risk mitigation interlink with each other is important
to both investors and wider stakeholders. It was
promising to see that within the viability statement, 50
companies (2017: 34) made specific reference to which
principal risks were considered as part of the viability
assessment. 43 companies (2017: 62) gave a general
reference to principal risks or a general cross reference
while the remaining seven (2017: four) provided no
reference at all.

Compliance – problem areas
Even though there have been progressive
trends in linkage between principal risks and the
viability statement, other areas of FRC guidance, such
as linkage between the principal risks and strategy,
have not seen a significant shift with only 47%
(2017: 42%) of companies having made such
disclosures. This information is critical to the readers’
understanding of the ‘story’ the annual report
presents and ensuring that consistent messages are
communicated throughout.
26 companies (2017: 18) disclosed the likelihood of
principal risks materialising and similarly, 28 companies
(2017: 18) disclosed the magnitude of the possible
impact of principal risks. While these trends are moving
in the right direction, investors have called for more
information in this area. Of the companies that did
disclose the likelihood and magnitude of principal risks,
24 (2017: 12) did so by means of a heat map or similar
diagram. This, together with narrative disclosures,
provides the reader with clarity and can be used
as an engaging and succinct way of communicating
compound aspects. For the majority of companies, it
was unclear whether the risks were presented net or
gross of mitigating activities, with only four companies
clearly presenting risks on a gross basis, eight on a net
basis after mitigating activities and four companies
presenting risks on both a net and gross basis.
Whilst the vast majority of companies continued to
explain how risks are mitigated, far fewer seemed
to provide the information newly required by the
NFR Directive in terms of the company’s business
relationships, products or services which are likely
to cause an adverse impact in the specified matters.
For example, of the 67 companies disclosing
employee-related principal risks, only 14 disclosed the
aforementioned information.
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Looking beyond compliance
The FRC has indicated that companies need
to use a “broad range of factors” when determining
their principal risks and have highlighted cyber risk,
climate change and Brexit as potential areas of focus.
Unsurprisingly, the World Economic Forum ‘Global
Risks Report 201820’ (“WEF’s GRR”) has identified global
trends in similar risks areas, namely cyber related risks
and climate change risks.
Cybersecurity is a current hot topic, especially following
the implementation of the General Data Protection
Regulation (“GDPR”) effective from 25 May 2018.
73% (2017: 71%) of companies identified cyber crime
as a principal risk, with 54% (2017: 53%) specifically
identifying data protection as part of their principal
risks. Furthermore, 22 companies included GDPR as
part of their data protection principal risk and a further
22 associated GDPR with other principal risks such
as compliance with laws and regulations. The WEF’s
GRR identified cyber-attacks and data theft and fraud
risks to be on the rise in terms of prevalence, potential
disruption and financial loss and so it is encouraging
to see companies making the above disclosures.
Moreover, companies also gave consideration to
different types of cyber risks, including the impact of
system failures, which 46% (2017: 58%) also disclosed.
Although 18 companies referred to broader
environmental issues as principal risks, and despite
climate change often being thought of as a hot topic,
only one company identified climate change as part
of a broader environmental and energy risk. Another
company identified climate change as a risk in the
context of non-principal risks and a very small number
of companies mentioned compliance with climate
change regulation as part of their wider regulatory
and compliance risks. Further, only four companies
indicated some level of compliance with the Task
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosure (“TCFD”)
recommendations. The TCFD recommendations
focus on climate related risks and opportunities,
related reporting metrics and the actual or possible
financial impact from climate related risks. Slightly
more encouragingly, 15 companies described their
oversight of climate related risks and opportunities
either within the strategic or governance report. The
TCFD recommendations continue to be a challenge for
companies to consider and explain why climate related
risks and opportunities are or are not considered part
of their principal risks.
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It is interesting that these findings are perhaps in
contrast to those found in the WEF’s GRR, where their
respondents identified extreme weather events,
natural disasters and failure of climate change
mitigation and adaptation to all be in their top 5 risks,
both in terms of likelihood and impact.
Boards continue to assess the potential impact of
Brexit with 59 companies (2017:55) identifying Brexit
as a principal risk in itself or explicitly referring to it as a
contributing factor to a wider market or economic risk.
Of the 59 companies, 43 (2017:35) identified company
specific risks and 16 (2017:20) identified more generic
risk factors. The FRC has indicated that investors
find it helpful where companies explain what the
potential impact Brexit may have on them and their risk
mitigation strategies. This will continue to be an area
of focus as Brexit negotiations continue. As the future
becomes clearer expectations will increase in terms
of the specificity companies should provide in their
disclosures.
In terms of the risk categories referred to in the
NFR Directive, by far the most commonly identified
category of principal risk was employee-related risks
(67 companies). Although workforces are obviously an
integral part of most businesses, it came as a slight
surprise to see so many companies expressing this
level of concern over, typically, employee retention.
However, despite workplace culture being a regulatory
hot topic, only five companies identified principal risks
in this space.
Meanwhile, 27 companies identified principal risks
related to anti-bribery or anti-corruption matters,
typically as an explicit part of a broader compliance
risk. Only five companies identified principal risks
related to human rights issues and only three identified
principal risks relating to ‘social’ issues.
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In the context of the organisation’s
strategic focus and future orientation, the
<IR> Framework sees risks, opportunities and
dependencies as flowing from the organisation’s
market position and business model. 75% of
companies clearly identified both risks and
opportunities arising in the marketplace and
discussed how they were applicable to the
company, while 10% clearly identified only the
risks and 12% identified only the opportunities.
Identifying risks in the marketplace, particularly
those which may not otherwise have been
disclosed as a principal risk, enhances a user’s
understanding of the business and its
environment. Discussing the marketplace
opportunities further complements this, and
can support the justification for the company’s
strategy.

Examples of disclosure
Mondi plc provided insight into their risk
tolerance for each category of risk, together with
insight on who was responsible in that area and how
the risk had evolved during the year.
Mondi plc

Laird PLC provided a graphical representation of the
likelihood and potential impact of various principal
risks, together with insight on how those risks were
evolving.
Laird PLC

What to watch out for
	Consider whether the principal risk disclosures
link with the viability statement, business model
and strategy, so the annual report tells one story.
	Explain what the likelihood is of risks
materialising and what the impact will be in a
clear, concise manner and consider the use of a
diagram to assist in this area.
	Consider the requirements of the NFR Directive
to not only make disclosures of how risks are
mitigated, but also activities that may have
adverse impacts on those risks.
	Monitor developments in Brexit negotiations and
consider updating disclosures as appropriate to
provide company-specific insight insofar as it is
possible.
	Reassess whether hot topics such as cyber
security, climate change and environmental risks
have been appropriately considered in arriving at
the risks regarded as ‘principal’.
See more examples of disclosure in the
electronic version of this publication.
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8. Viability
8. Viability

13%

32%

of companies drew out their disclosure of
prospects in their viability statement, which has
been called for by both the FRC and the
Investment Association.

of companies discussed the risk and resilience
of their business model in their viability
statement.

Number of companies using
diﬀerent lookout periods
78

77

74% of companies included the

longer term viability statement with
the principal risks disclosures in the
strategic report – down from

2018

77% last year.

2017

20%

reported on a lookout
Only
period spanning more than three
years – down from
year

17

2

3

1

2 years
or less

3 years

54% of companies disclosed the

15

qualiﬁcations or assumptions
underlying their assessment –

7

4 years

22% last

up from

5 years

52% last year.

What qualiﬁcations or assumptions were disclosed?
29

Availability of funding/reﬁnancing

30
21

Sales volumes or pricing
Cost management
Availability or success of mitigating actions

16
13
7
11
13
2018
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Compliance – positive trends
This is the third year that companies have been
required to provide a longer term viability statement
as required by the UK Corporate Governance Code,
Provision C.2.2.
The trend is for most of these statements to be
included in the strategic report, alongside the
disclosure on principal risks, which is the location
suggested by the FRC. 74% of companies included
their statement in the strategic report this year
(2017: 77%). This makes sense as the potential impact
of the company’s principal risks is a key part of the
directors’ assessment of longer term viability.
As required by the Code, 93% provided some
explanation of the length of the lookout period
they selected (2017: 95%). 89% of these companies
justified the period based on their planning cycle;
encouragingly, 51% of these companies discussed the
nature of the business or its stage of development
in justifying the lookout period and 23% drew a
comparison with another time horizon used in
the annual report, for instance debt repayment or
technology development periods.
91% of companies referred to the nature of the
analysis they undertook to support the statement.
A requirement of the Code is to report on how the
directors have performed their analysis and we would
expect all statements to meet this. The proportion of
companies complying was 88% in our 2017 survey.
Of the 91 companies providing a description of the
nature of the analysis they undertook, 90 (2017:
87) discussed performing modelling, stress testing,
sensitivity analysis or scenario planning with only one
company indicating that its assessment was limited to
consideration of qualitative factors only.
Compliance – problem areas
The FRC has explained that it envisages a two
stage process to meet Code Provision C.2.2, with
reporting on each stage – the first being about the
assessment of the prospects of the company, the
second being the directors’ reasonable expectation
of viability for the period of their assessment. The
expectation from both investors and from the FRC
is that the period over which directors assess the
prospects of the company will be longer than the
period for the viability assessment.

This year only 13% of companies provided a disclosure
about future prospects that was a clearly differentiated
portion of the viability statement section. However,
several of the companies explained that future
prospects had been assessed over the same period
that they used as the viability statement lookout period
– which is not the approach intended by the FRC.
32% of companies discussed the risk and resilience of
the business model to some extent, including 22 of the
26 that had some form of future prospects disclosure.
This can be particularly helpful for users of the
annual report as it illustrates how robust the viability
statement assessment has been.
Despite the FRC’s Guidance on Risk Management,
Internal Control and Related Financial and Business
Reporting14 calling for principal risks to be considered
both individually and in combination when looking
at the effect on longer term viability, only 45% of
companies made it clear that they had taken this step
(2017: 45%).
Only 54% of companies chose to disclose any
qualifications or assumptions underlying their
assessment (2017: 52%). Companies disclosing
assumptions generally focused on the availability
of funding or refinancing (29 companies; 2017:
30 companies) although we saw a significant increase
in companies referring to assumptions on sales
volumes, pricing and cost control.
Surprisingly, only one company drew out an
assumption related to Brexit, despite the end of
the two year negotiation period offered by Article
50 being well within the lookout period for all of the
companies we surveyed. Scenarios described by a
handful of further companies referred to possible
Brexit outcomes or Brexit-related principal risks.
Whilst we accept the continued levels of uncertainty
around Brexit outcomes, our expectation would have
been that more boards would have considered, and
discussed, the potential impact an unfavourable Brexit
outcome could have on their longer term viability.
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Looking beyond compliance
In November 2017, the FRC’s Financial Reporting
Lab issued a report on Risk and Viability Reporting14,
incorporating insight from investors around the elements
of viability reporting that are most useful for them.
There are some positive trends emerging following the
recommendations in this report and the Investment
Association’s Guidelines on Viability Statements13.
These include:
•• longer lookout periods, with 20 companies reporting
over four years or longer (2017: 22 companies; 2016:
14 companies);
•• 74% disclosed that they took the current state of the
company’s affairs into consideration (2017: 71%) and,
of these disclosures, in our judgement 24 companies
provided useful detail this year;
•• 11% of companies made the link to the sustainability
of dividends (2017: 5%);
•• 10% disclosed the use of reverse stress testing, a
particularly robust testing methodology (2017: 10%);
and
•• Of 26 companies that set out clear scenarios
they had used to test the model for their viability
statement, 13 had presented a conclusion covering
each scenario (2017: 26 and seven).
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What to watch out for
	Consider whether you have addressed both
parts of Code Provision C.2.2, incorporating an
explanation of how longer term prospects have
been assessed and the viability statement, and
include clear disclosure on both elements.
	Explain the risk and resilience of your business
model so that investors understand to what
extent your viability assessment is finely
balanced.
	Consider whether a longer lookout period would
be more appropriate for the life cycle of your
business – and whatever the lookout period,
include a clear and reasoned explanation as to
why it is the right decision.
	Explain the analysis you have undertaken and
consider whether that could be more robust
by assessing principal risks in combination or
performing reverse stress testing.
	Presenting clear testing scenarios is a helpful
addition to the disclosure, particularly if
conclusions are shown for each of those
scenarios.
	If you are subject to financing arrangements,
remember that in most cases the viability
assessment will make assumptions about those
arrangements continuing, which should be
disclosed.
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Examples of disclosure
Vodafone Group Plc gave a clear explanation of their methodology for arriving at conclusions on the viability
assessment, including clear differentiation between assessment of prospects and assessment of viability and the
principal risks being assessed both individually in severe but plausible scenarios and in combination.
Vodafone Group Plc

See more examples of disclosure in the
electronic version of this publication.
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9. Board and director stewardship

74%

In the FTSE 100 companies surveyed,

Only
of companies included a statement
indicating how they applied the main principles
of the Code, down from

only

80% in 2017.

68% included this statement,
down from 94% in 2017.

99% of companies (2017: 100%) reported on
compliance with the provisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Code

37% that reported they had partially
complied with the Code, 86% provided an

Of the

adequate explanation of the reasons for any
non-compliance (2017: 90%).

62% reported that they had complied
fully (2017: 52%)

Common Code non-compliances disclosed:
Provision A.2.1 – The
Chairman should not also be
Chief Executive
Provision A.3.1 –
Independence of chairman
Provision A.4.1 – Senior
independent director
Provision B.2.1 – Nomination
committee composition
Provision C.3.1 – Audit
committee composition
Provision D.2.1 –
Remuneration committee
composition
2018
38

2017

5
6
5
7
6
5
6
9

27%

7
12
10
10

of companies
Only
refer to the board’s
consideration of Brexit in the
corporate governance
statement, down from

44% of companies in 2017.
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Compliance – positive trends
Comply or explain – the Listing Rules supported
by FRC guidance indicate that a meaningful explanation
should be provided for any departure from the
provisions of the applicable UK Corporate Governance
Code, affording the reader the opportunity to
understand the company’s governance journey.
The quality of explanations given for departures from
Code provisions during the year remained high, with 86%
of those companies that did not fully comply with the
Code providing a meaningful explanation (2017: 90%).
We identified some strong board evaluation
disclosures, with 35% of companies explaining the
findings and related action points (2017: 41%). A further
17% of companies described the findings of their
evaluation (2017: 9%) – this means that a total of 52% of
companies included informative disclosure regarding
their evaluation (2017: 50%). The omission of action
points was in some cases driven by the timing of the
board evaluation and we noted several disclosures that
explained that actions were to be set at an upcoming
board meeting or board strategy day.
It is particularly helpful to be able to see the benefits
companies have derived from their board evaluation
and it demonstrates transparency, openness to
change and commitment to the running of an effective
board when they are prepared to discuss areas for
improvement in the annual report.
6% of companies had not performed a board
evaluation during the year, generally attributed to
substantial recent changes at board level which
led the board to conclude that an evaluation would
be of limited use and should be delayed until the
changes had been in place for longer. Of the other 94
companies, 80% made it clear in the annual report that
their board evaluation processes had covered all of
board, board committees and individual directors
(as laid out in Code Principle B.6).
Corporate culture has been an area of focus for the
FRC in recent years with the report on ‘Corporate
Culture and the Role of Boards’ released in July 20163,
indicating the importance of board focus on this topic
in order to hold management to account. As well as
an encouraging 86% of companies discussing
culture or values in their strategic report we found
74% discussing this in their corporate governance
statements (2017: 82% and 69%).

We considered that 32% offered a detailed discussion
in the strategic report (2017: 44%) and 11% in their
corporate governance statements (2017: 25%). It
was interesting to note that some of the stronger
disclosures regarding culture we identified this year
arose in companies outside the FTSE 350. High quality
disclosures acknowledge people and values as a key
company asset and provide a clear, detailed explanation
of how their culture works, the value derived from that,
how it is monitored and how it is supported by the
company structures, including the board.
23% of companies included some detail on the tools and
techniques the board uses to monitor culture and 4%
indicated that the board obtains some type of assurance
regarding corporate culture (2017: 21% and 6%). 8%
of companies disclosed action taken by the board to
address issues during the year around culture – for
example, introducing new training on values, work on a
fundamental cultural transformation in the business, or
action to address concerning findings regarding culture
arising from an employee engagement survey.
Disclosure focusing on the tools and techniques the
board uses to monitor the quality of the cultural
environment in the group helps the reader to
understand how seriously the board takes the topic of
understanding, developing and improving the culture
and values embedded in their organisation – as does
disclosure on the actions the board is taking to fix
perceived cultural issues in the company.
This year, 7% of companies helped bring their culture
and values to life for the reader by providing illustrative
case studies – a recommendation from the FRC’s
report (2017: 10%).
Compliance – problem areas
The Listing Rules require premium listed
companies to provide a statement regarding how they
apply the Main Principles of the Code in a manner
that would enable shareholders to evaluate how the
principles have been applied. These principles are key
to corporate governance in the UK as they represent a
broad structure within which companies can develop
the specific governance arrangements that works best
for them. Only 74% of companies this year included
a statement clearly indicating how they applied the
main principles of the Code (2017: 80%). This included
a substantial deterioration in the FTSE 100 companies
surveyed, where only 68% included this statement,
down from 94% in 2017.
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Looking beyond compliance
The world of governance continues to move
quickly and government, regulators and investors look
for boards to respond promptly and with foresight.
This year, all boards had sight of the direction of
travel and most boards had the opportunity to read
the consultation draft of the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code developed in conjunction with the
Government’s corporate governance reform agenda,
which was published in December 2017.
We were therefore anticipating thoughtful disclosure
in corporate governance statements regarding
the attention paid by boards to section 172 of the
Companies Act 2006 (also discussed in section 4),
broader stakeholder engagement, company purpose
and their plans for formal workforce engagement
mechanisms (expected to be an employee director,
workforce council or designated non-executive director).
However, most boards appear to have taken a “wait and
see” approach in the corporate governance statement:
•• 21 companies referred to section 172 of the
Companies Act or explained how the board takes
into account the interests of broader stakeholders
(2017: 17).
•• Six companies referred to corporate purpose, and
only one of these companies included any detailed
disclosure.
•• Only four companies explained current or planned
workforce engagement mechanisms, with each of the
three main options taken up by at least one company.
•• Two companies explained the involvement of the
board in determining which groups constitute the
company’s key stakeholders.
•• Only ten companies indicated that stakeholder
feedback has any impact on board decision making
– however these disclosures were in general not
specific about the nature of that impact.
Disclosures on current “hot topics” this year included:
•• 54% disclosed board attention on cyber risk/cyber
security, including board training, presentations to
the board or audit committee, cyber insurance and
externally provided projects regarding cyber security
(2017: 50%). 2% disclosed a specific cyber security
breach the company had suffered during the year.
Section 7 also discusses principal risks disclosed in
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this space, with 79% having identified such a risk,
either in relation to cyber-crime or systems’ failures.
•• 35% mentioned board involvement in the company’s
work to implement the General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR), where boards received training and
disclosed plans, including internal audit attention to
the topic of data security. 44 companies mentioned
GDPR compliance as part of their principal risks.
•• 27% disclosed board attention to the topic of Brexit,
where boards discussed strategy, principal risks
and mitigating actions, whilst audit committees
mentioned foreign exchange and treasury risk,
potential impairments, principal risks and viability
statements – down from 44% in 2017. In contrast,
59% had either identified Brexit as a principal risk or
explicitly mentioned it as a contributing factor to a
broader marketplace or economic risk.
What to watch out for
	The 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code (the
2018 Code) takes effect for years commencing
on or after 1 January 2019. This means most
underlying changes to company policies and
processes should be in place by the time many
companies issue their next annual report. Boards
should consider incorporating disclosure on their
role in these changes.
	Remember to provide a clear statement of how
the Code’s main principles have been applied in
addition to a statement of compliance with the
provisions.
	Corporate culture is an area of continued focus – it
is key for boards to understand what makes their
companies tick and ideally to explain how they
monitor that the company’s values are applied
consistently and what they do to improve matters.
	Despite the uncertainties around Brexit, it is an
area of concern for the FRC and for investors,
where boards should demonstrate they are
involved in the key monitoring and planning
processes and that they understand the impact
their company could face.
	Company vulnerability to cyber attack continues
to be an area of concern for Government and for
investors, who would like to understand how the
board is managing and/or mitigating this risk.
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Examples of disclosure
Mears Group PLC explains its conclusion to
appoint an employee director to help the board receive
insight and views from the workforce.
Mears Group PLC

Anglo American plc includes an illustrative case study
on values and culture, a technique to communicate
culture that has been recommended by the FRC.
Anglo American plc

Croda International Plc provides insight on the board
decision making process around culture and values,
including the development of a culture plan, link to
business strategy and a mechanism for monitoring
culture throughout the business.
Croda International Plc

See more examples of disclosure in the
electronic version of this publication.
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10. Succession and diversity
75%

87%

79%

of nomination committees were
involved in appointing a new director
during the year; all of these committees
held at least one meeting and...

of them described the process used
for speciﬁc board appointments
during the year

of nomination committees that
appointed a new director used an
executive search ﬁrm to help
identify candidates

How did boards disclose activity around succession planning?
27
24

24
21
17
12
7

0

13

11

5
0

No
Mentioned but
reference
no detail

Clear
explanation

8

0

No
Mentioned but
reference
no detail

FTSE 100

Clear
explanation

No
Mentioned but
reference
no detail

Clear
explanation

FTSE 250

Others

of annual reports referred to
aspects of board diversity other than
gender (2017: 86%); however, only

of companies disclosed
Only
the gender diversity in the executive
committee and their direct reports, in
line with the Hampton-Alexander
review’s expectations (2017: 8%)

2017

33% of nomination committee

disclosures explained clearly the
system the board uses to maintain
good succession planning
practices (2017: 41%)
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9

7

0

2018

15

80%

29% of companies met the new
DTR requirements to describe the
board diversity policy

15%
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Compliance – positive trends
We noted a significant trend for improvement
in succession planning disclosures in our 2017 survey.
There has not been a further step-change this year,
however nomination committees have continued to
provide better quality disclosure. The Guidance on
Board Effectiveness15 offers insight on succession
planning practices, information which could also add
value to succession planning disclosures.
93% of boards disclosed activity around succession
planning (2017: 89%, 2016: 69%). This year the small
improvements in quality of disclosure we have seen
has been in companies below the FTSE 100. However,
in our judgement only 33% of companies this year
included disclosures that explained clearly the systems
the board has in place to maintain good succession
planning, compared to 41% in 2017. We were looking
for information such as whether the board uses a skills
matrix, whether it is reviewed regularly, whether there
is a regular update provided on succession planning for
senior management.
19% of companies had disclosures that clearly showed
that the succession plan and the talent programme
were connected to the corporate strategy (2017: 19%).
Finally, we saw a small increase to 31% in the number of
companies that included information on the quality of
the internal pipeline (2017: 27%, 2016: 9%).
Code provision B.2.4 lays out the requirements relating
to nomination committee reporting. These are still not
fully met by the companies in our sample.
•• 88% of companies this year met the requirement for
a separate section of the annual report describing
the work of the nomination committee (2017: 89%).
•• Of the 75% of companies that appointed a new board
director during the year, 87% described the process
used for those appointments, in line with the Code
provision asking for disclosure of “the process used
in relation to board appointments.” (2017: 67% and
85%).
With regard to the appointment of directors:
•• In total, 67% of companies disclosed the use of
executive search agencies, either in relation to a
current year director appointment or a description
of their general appointment process (2017: 66%).
A significant minority mentioned that they had

requested diverse shortlists or that the agency in
question had signed up to the Voluntary Code of
Conduct on diversity.
•• Only two companies disclosed that they used open
advertising and neither of those companies used
advertising as the sole method of finding directors.
A further company indicated that it would use
open advertising in the future in order to promote
diversity.
•• Other methods described by companies to find
new directors included appointment of internal
candidates; personal connections; information on
candidates from previous shortlists.
Compliance – problem areas
We consider that the requirements of the
Non‑Financial Reporting Directive regarding diversity
disclosures in the corporate governance statement
(implemented in the UK through the Disclosure
Guidelines and Transparency Rules) should not be very
different from the Code requirements for “a description
of the board’s policy on diversity, including gender, any
measurable objectives… and progress on achieving
the objectives.” Complying with the new DTR was a
requirement for large listed companies with periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2017.
In our judgement, only 29% of companies this year met
the requirements of the DTR; of these, six companies
disclosed that they did not have a board diversity
policy and provided reasons why. The proportion of
companies that met the requirements rose to 53% of
FTSE 100 companies, with one of those companies
disclosing that it did not have a board diversity policy
and why. Two further FTSE 100 companies did not
describe the policy on board diversity but did say they
had a policy available on their website.
In order to meet the DTR requirements, boards
should aim to describe the policy itself rather than
the processes in place or actions taken during the
year – although of course knowing about these is also
valuable to the reader! We also do not consider it is
sufficient to provide a cross-reference to a disclosure
about the diversity policy applying to the organisation
as a whole without further clarification of whether or
how it relates to the board itself. Boards should be
clear about measurable objectives (disclosed by 22% of
companies this year, up from 16% in 2017) and should
comment clearly on the outcomes during the year.
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Ideally the policy should look beyond gender diversity
– the DTR also refers to age, educational background
and professional background, with the goal to promote
diversity of thought at board level.
Only 15% of companies disclosed the gender diversity
in the executive committee and their direct reports, in
line with the Hampton-Alexander review’s expectations
(2017: 8%). This will be a disclosure requirement in the
2018 Code. Only six companies included any disclosure
on the level of ethnic diversity on their board.
The McGregor Smith review also covered ethnic
diversity – this time throughout the workforce. One
company included reporting along these lines in its
strategic report.
Looking beyond compliance
Additional information on director performance
and contribution is particularly helpful for FTSE 350
companies, where there is a requirement for annual
re‑election. 55% of all companies in our sample
included disclosure regarding director contribution
(2017: 35%), increasing to 79% of the FTSE 100. We
have seen an increase in companies outside the FTSE
350 disclosing that they also seek annual re-election of
directors, which will soon be required under the 2018
Code for all premium listed companies.
We considered the impact of the 2018 Code on
independence and succession considerations for
the companies in our sample. 2018 Code provision 9
requires the chair to be independent on appointment,
and provision 19 states that “the chair should not
remain in post beyond nine years of the date of their
first appointment to the board.”
We found that:
•• 10% of companies disclosed that their chair was not
independent on appointment. A further 36% did
not mention whether or not their chair had been
independent on appointment.
•• 25% of companies had chairs who had served on the
board for more than 9 years. A further 3% did not
mention the tenure of the chair. Six of the companies
with long-serving chairs had chairs who were not
independent on appointment.
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What to watch out for
	Nomination committees are short on time to
plan for the implementation of the 2018 Code,
which will be in effect for periods commencing
on or after 1 January 2019. Consideration should
be given to succession planning, the tenure of
directors and refreshment of the board, director
appointment, and the accompanying disclosures.
	On succession planning, informative disclosures
are specific to the company and to the year.
They cover the link between succession and
strategy, the process, tools and advisors used
by the nomination committee, an insight into the
quality and diversity of the internal pipeline, and
work the board is doing to improve the internal
pipeline.
	Focus is moving further down the organisation
and boards are expected to pay more attention
to the diversity and remuneration of executive
committees and their direct reports, along with
reporting on those matters.
	The recent focus on the first gender pay
gap disclosures both in the media and by
Government committees and the investor
pressures on board diversity suggest that boards
should consider carefully their policies and
disclosures in this area.
	Finally, boards have struggled to meet the
required disclosures under DTR 7.2.8A regarding
the board diversity policy, objectives and
outcomes during the year. If this is a difficult
disclosure to write, is there an issue with the
underlying policy which needs to be addressed?
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Examples of disclosure
Mondi plc’s nomination committee includes a helpful diagram showing the process it follows for
appointment of new directors, together with detail on how that process was applied to the appointment of
a director during the year, the use of an executive search firm and the detail that they are a signatory of the
Voluntary Code of Conduct.
Mondi plc

Howden Joinery Group Plc discloses detail regarding the process followed in appointing its new CEO, covering the
process, interaction between board committees and HR, use of psychometric profiles, and contract negotiation.
Howden Joinery Group Plc

See more examples of disclosure in the
electronic version of this publication.
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11. Accountability and internal control
89%
of audit committee chairmen showed clear
ownership of their committee’s report, in
most cases through a personal introduction
or through signing the full report (2017: 87%).

On average, how many signiﬁcant ﬁnancial reporting
issues were identiﬁed by the audit committee?
6

FTSE 100

5
4

FTSE 250

4
4

Others

5
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88% of audit committees disclosed how they had assessed
the eﬀectiveness of the external audit process

15 companies referred to engagement with

60% of companies with an internal audit function explained

the FRC’s Corporate Reporting Review panel,
up from

how they had assessed the eﬀectiveness of the internal audit
function (2017: 89% and 67%).

3 in 2017.

The ratio of non-audit fees
compared to audit fees was
signiﬁcantly lower this year at

25%, a reduction from
62% since the introduction
of the FRC’s Revised Ethical
Standard for auditors.

8%

Only
of companies
disclosed a ratio exceeding

How comprehensive were the disclosures regarding
the eﬀectiveness of the external audit process?
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Compliance – positive trends
This year, in order to assess whether disclosures
on significant issues considered in relation to
the financial statements was comprehensive, we
considered each of the factors laid out by the FRC’s
Audit & Assurance Lab in its report, Audit Committee
Reporting17. This calls for informative context to
be provided for each significant issue, including
quantification where appropriate; a description of the
actions carried out by the audit committee during the
year; the conclusion on each issue and the rationale
behind that conclusion; and suitable cross-references to
elsewhere in the annual report.
In our judgement, based on these criteria, only 25%
were comprehensive disclosures adding substantially
to the reader’s understanding of those issues
and how the audit committee has considered and
challenged them. In general, audit committees could
have provided more detail on their actions and level
of challenge and comparatively few explained the
rationale underlying their conclusions regarding the
significant issues.
15% of audit committees referred to engagement with
the FRC’s Corporate Reporting Review (CRR) panel,
up from 3% in 2017. The increase was driven partially
by company involvement in the CRR’s programme of
thematic reviews, which has widened the number of
companies engaged in dialogue with the CRR this year.
6% of companies indicated that their company had
experienced some form of significant internal control
breakdown during the year. Following the 2014
change in the FRC’s Guidance on Risk Management,
Internal Control and Related Financial and Business
Reporting21 on how to report on significant failings
or weaknesses, which now calls for an explanation of
what actions have been or are being taken to remedy
any significant failing or weakness, 67% of those that
had experienced a control breakdown provided a good
disclosure regarding the actions that have been or are
being taken. This compares favourably to 44% of those
companies identifying a significant failing or weakness
in our 2017 survey making that disclosure.
Another responsibility of the audit committee relates
to the relationship with the external auditor. This year
22% of companies mentioned that they had read the
FRC’s Audit Quality Review Team (AQRT) report on their
audit firm (2017: 18%).

17% referred to a specific AQRT inspection of their
company’s audit (2017: 12%), and almost all of those
explained whether there were significant issues
identified and, if so, that they had discussed the report
with the auditor and agreed appropriate actions.
We also looked at the disclosure of non‑audit services:
•• 8% of companies indicated their auditor did not
provide any non‑audit services (2017: 6%).
•• For those that did provide non‑audit services, the
average ratio of non‑audit fees to audit fees16 over
all companies was 25%, falling to 23% in the FTSE
350 part of our sample (2017: 62%, falling to 45%).
This indicates a substantial shift following the FRC’s
Revised Ethical Standard for auditors taking effect.
•• Where the audit committee calculated the ratio
it came out at 21% on average, compared to 29%
on average where we calculated it ourselves. This
may be because auditor’s fees for the review of
the interim report were often included by audit
committees as audit fees when calculating the ratio
– we note that these are classified as non-audit fees
under the Ethical Standard.
•• Only 8% of companies disclosed a ratio of non-audit
fees to audit fees exceeding 70%.
Last year, we highlighted changes to the 2016 UK
Corporate Governance Code and the Guidance on
Audit Committees affecting the audit committee report
for years commencing on or after 17 June 2016. We
have identified an increase in the number of companies
providing these disclosures:
•• 91% described the composition of their audit
committee and 57% included a disclosure about
sector competence (2017: 89% and 35%).
•• 38% indicated when there might be a future external
audit tender (2017: 49%).
•• 73% disclosed the tenure of the current audit partner
and 58% disclosed the audit partner name (2017:
60% and 43%).
•• 58% included some mention of the annual
performance evaluation of the audit committee
(2017: 52%).
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Compliance – problem areas
In the wake of public attention on both external
and internal audit, it is notable that audit committee
disclosures regarding internal audit have not moved
on to the same degree. It is not unusual to see several
pages of disclosure regarding the audit committee’s
consideration of external audit, yet only a few
sentences regarding internal audit.
Internal audit is a critical element of the “third line of
defence” and Government and regulatory bodies have
been encouraging boards to spend more time ensuring
internal audit is established properly with independent
lines of reporting, a clear remit, coverage of key risks
to the business and suitable access to the rest of the
organisation.
Despite an expanded section on internal audit in the
FRC’s 2016 Guidance on Audit Committees, we have
seen no real improvement in the reporting of the role
and activities of the internal audit function.
Of the 81% of companies which have an internal audit
function (93% of the FTSE 350 and 65% of smaller
companies), 94% of audit committees confirm that
they have reviewed the plans and work of internal
audit (2017: 90%). Only 52% stated that they have set
internal audit plans with reference to the key risks of
the business (2017: 53%).
Only 60% of audit committees in companies with an
internal audit function explain how they have assessed
the effectiveness of the internal audit function (2017:
67%), and many of these disclosures are very brief
indeed. This year we noted a substantial minority
disclosing they had used some form of external
assessment process, an exercise recommended by the
Institute of Internal Auditors on a five-yearly basis.
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Looking beyond compliance
The FRC’s A&A Lab report, Audit Committee
Reporting17, indicates that investors would find it
helpful to have clarity in the audit committee report
regarding the role the audit committee plays in internal
control. In our judgement, 78% of companies met this
standard. However, most of the remaining 22% of
companies included sufficient disclosure elsewhere
in the annual report to understand the role of the
audit committee; indeed, we noticed that several
companies had a short section immediately preceding
the audit committee report which clearly explained the
governance structures around risk and internal control.
Companies should consider whether to rearrange the
location of their disclosures in order to meet investor
preferences.
The 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code, which
will be effective for years commencing on or after
1 January 2019, has a provision regarding whistleblowing
which makes it clear that whistleblowing is the board’s
responsibility. 91% of companies included some
mention of whistleblowing in the annual report, of these
76% in the audit committee report. In our judgement,
only 23% of companies that mentioned whistleblowing
shared disclosures that went beyond boilerplate.
Better disclosures brought out the importance of a
robust speaking-up process to the company. They
were company-specific and year-specific and could
include the operation of the whistleblowing process,
its independence and reporting lines, changes during
the year, reporting statistics, and the nature of reports
received and acted upon. Some drew out the link to
corporate culture.
What to watch out for
	Consider enhancing disclosures regarding the
internal audit function and demonstrating
the level of oversight applied by the audit
committee. What is the scope of internal audit
activity across the company? Does it cover the
key risks? Is resourcing and skills sufficient and
appropriate? How has the committee assessed
the effectiveness of the internal auditor?
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	Provide useful information about the nature
of the significant issues affecting the financial
statements – clear context and value. Make
it clear for each issue what actions the audit
committee has taken during the year, how
the audit committee has applied challenge to
management’s conclusions, the conclusion
the audit committee itself has reached and its
underlying rationale.

Intertek Group plc explains how its whistle-blowing
hotline operates, including lines of reporting,
independence, nature of reports and number of
reports both received and substantiated.
Intertek Group plc

	Consider disclosures around the importance of
external audit quality, particularly where coming
up to a tender of the external audit or where one
has recently been undertaken. Investors are keen
to know that audit committees prioritise audit
quality.
	Whether disclosure sits in the audit committee
report or elsewhere in the annual report, it is
important for employees and other stakeholders
to know that the whistleblowing process is
robust, independent, and that reports are
listened to and acted upon.
Examples of disclosure
Rotork plc’s disclosure on significant issues
affecting financial reporting includes context and
valuation, the evidence reviewed and actions taken
by the committee, the conclusions reached and
rationale, and cross-reference to the relevant financial
statement note.
Rotork plc
See more examples of disclosure in the
electronic version of this publication.
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12. Judgements and estimates, tax and
pensions
When distinguished, on
average there were

The average number of
critical judgements and key
sources of estimation
uncertainty remained at

2 judgements and
3 estimates

5

Do those items appear to be company-speciﬁc?

16
55
29

All items company speciﬁc (2017: 16)
Some items generic (2017: 51)
All items appeared generic (2017: 32)

Disclosures on estimation uncertainties*
58%

Nature and amount of asset/liability
(or obvious)

40%
14%

Quantiﬁed explanations of assumption

80%
17%

Sensitivities (unless stated impracticable)

76%
10%

Range of reasonably possible outcomes

Changes to past assumptions

83%
0%
1%
0%

17%

34%

* of the 99 companies appearing to disclose key sources of estimation uncertainty

40%

provided
information on
tax strategy or
governance
50

67%

still have deﬁned
beneﬁt pension
schemes

51%

68%
All items

40

85%
Some items

companies had
DB schemes in an
IAS 19 surplus
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In November 2017, the FRC published feedback reports
on its thematic reviews18 of financial statements
covering the areas of critical judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty, tax and pensions,
in which they identified areas where companies can
continue to enhance their related disclosures. We have
focused below on the main topics where the FRC is
seeking improvements.
Critical accounting judgements and key sources
of estimation uncertainty
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty are two disclosures that have
often mistakenly been merged together, despite
IAS 1 requiring separate and different disclosure for
each. Disclosure of accounting judgements under
IAS 1 specifically excludes those involving estimations,
which are covered by the estimation uncertainty
disclosures. The differing disclosures required for each
mean this distinction matters. Also, the key estimates
disclosures apply only where there is a significant risk
of material adjustment in the next year due to changes
in assumptions and estimates, so not all areas of
estimation are covered.
We observed further progress here, with 66% of
those surveyed (2017: 52%, 2016: 27%) now making
clear which items they regard as estimates and which
as judgements. 89% of those companies made the
distinction by using sub-headings. Even where a
distinction was presented though, confusion remained
– it appeared to us that 18 companies had either
presented estimates as judgements or vice versa.
The FRC remains concerned about the use of
boilerplate text and continues to identify examples of
generic disclosures that do not describe the specific
judgements and estimates made. Just under a third
of companies we looked at only provided narrative
that was so generic that it could have been applied
equally to any other company, for example in relation
to goodwill impairment testing, defined benefit pension
assumptions and uncertain tax positions.

Only 16 companies (2017: 15) disclosed items that
all appeared suitably company‑specific. The FRC has
commented that the better quality reports identify
a smaller number of judgements and estimates and
noted that audit committee reports and auditors’
reports often provide more granular information
in respect of significant judgements and richer
information regarding the particular estimates and
assumptions made, which is consistent with our
findings.
When critical judgements were distinguished,
the maximum was eight, with an average of two.
15 companies indicated that they had no critical
judgements. 33% of the companies presented one or
more judgements where it was not obvious, based on
the information provided, how those judgements could
have a significant effect on the financial statements.
Perhaps unsurprisingly the greater the number of
judgements, the more likely this was to be the case.
When sources of estimation uncertainty were
distinguished, the maximum was seven, with an
average of three. For 82% of companies, it was unclear
to us for one or more items identified as key sources
of estimation uncertainty, how they could realistically
give rise to a material adjustment within the next 12
months. Again, those presenting fewer items seemed
to have done better at focusing on “key” sources of
estimation uncertainty.
These findings highlight the need for preparers to avoid
feeling compelled to identify a list that is typically five
or six items long with the same items as in their peer
group’s financial statements.
In terms of the disclosures listed in paragraph 129
of IAS 1 regarding information about estimates,
79% of companies disclosed some quantification of
assumptions underlying estimates, with only 14% of
companies disclosing quantification for all key sources
of estimation uncertainty. This information is important
to investors as it enhances understanding of the
assumptions underlying estimates. 91% of companies
disclosed insight into sensitivities and ranges of
reasonably possible outcomes for some of the items
identified as a key source of estimation uncertainty,
although this was typically by virtue of disclosing
information required by other standards, such as
IAS 36 and IAS 19.
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Tax
Recent times have seen greater scrutiny of the amount
of tax companies are paying and on the use of overseas
tax structures. The FRC’s thematic review also highlighted
areas for improvement in companies’ tax disclosures and
transparency.

Pensions
Whilst many companies have closed their defined
benefit pension schemes either to new entrants or
to future accrual, ongoing obligations to fund such
schemes are often significant and 67 companies
surveyed (2017: 67) still had such schemes.

Large UK companies are now required to publish their
UK tax strategy online, either as a separate document
or as part of another. In the annual reports we
surveyed, 40% (2017: 38%) provided information on tax
strategy or governance, of which 24% were providing
fairly generic disclosures or a brief cross-reference to a
company website, and only 16% were providing more
detailed insight.

The vast majority of companies provided some
quantified insight into future funding levels (an area of
FRC focus), and whilst improved on prior year, the level
of insight into future contribution levels still varied. 31
(2017: 15) appeared to quantify future contributions over
the whole period covered by schedules of contributions,
while 21 only disclosed expected contributions for the
following year. Only two companies surveyed mentioned
an increase in dividend payments potentially triggering
an increase in pension scheme contributions, which is a
topical area of public interest.

The majority of companies (81%) discussed the current
year effective tax rate in the strategic report, although
only 52% provided insight into the expected future
effective tax rate. Providing information in addition
to generic disclosure of Budget tax rate changes
is encouraged. Of the 56 companies that showed
adjusting items on the face of the income statement,
only 27 analysed the tax impact of these in the tax
reconciliation note to the accounts.
One area of concern raised by the FRC is around
uncertain tax positions, which are relatively common in
large entities given the complexity of many tax regimes.
37% of companies surveyed (2017: 38%) identified
provisions for uncertain tax positions as a critical
accounting judgement or a key source of estimation
uncertainty (although in some cases mis-categorised
within these two headings), and 34% of companies
provided an accounting policy on uncertain tax positions.
However, of the 37 companies, only 18 quantified their
uncertain tax provisions to provide useful information
to the reader on the extent of estimation. 23 companies
(2017: 15) disclosed contingent liabilities related to tax,
although only 14 (2017: seven) of those gave an estimate
of the potential effect as required by IAS 37 where the
probability of outflow is not remote.
Alongside IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments, which provides clarity on the accounting
(with effect from periods commencing on or after
1 January 2019), the FRC is promoting greater
transparency in this area, through clearer disclosure
of accounting policy and quantification of uncertain
tax provisions. The FRC has stated that justification
for non‑quantification will continue to be a regulatory
focus in future.
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40 companies had one or more schemes in surplus
on an IAS 19 basis, with 37 of those companies
recognising the surplus as an asset. However,
justification for recognising an asset was only provided
by 21 companies (in all cases, as in previous years,
on the grounds of an unconditional right to a refund).
The FRC’s thematic review highlighted this as an area
for improvement. On a related note, no company
recognised an additional liability for a minimum
funding requirement that would have given rise to an
irrecoverable surplus. This is an area where the FRC
does challenge companies, focusing on matters such
as trustees’ rights to enhance benefits.
Most companies analysed plan assets by major
category, although 24 companies did not make clear
which categories had quoted market prices and which
did not. Over half of the companies with defined benefit
schemes (42) clearly identified and explained the risks
inherent in their scheme asset investment strategy
and 24 companies disclosed asset-liability matching
strategies such as annuities or longevity swaps.
Most companies provided sensitivity analyses for
significant assumptions although, for 26 of these,
certain assumptions moved in the current year by
more than the ‘reasonably possible’ change identified in
the sensitivity disclosure. This may appear inconsistent
for a reader assessing the extent of estimation, as the
extent of reasonably possible changes would typically
be expected to be consistent with recent variations,
rather than just having standard variations of plus or
minus 0.1% for example.
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What to watch out for
	Distinguish between judgements (other than
those relating to estimates) and estimates.

	Provide tailored commentary on tax strategy and
governance.

	Make the judgements and estimates disclosures
company‑specific and meet the FRC’s
expectations for all the accompanying detail,
such as sensitivity information.

	Provide insight into the future expected tax rate.

	Only include the most complex or subjective
judgements that have the most significant effect
on amounts recognised.

	Provide justification for recognition of a pension
asset where a scheme is in surplus.

	Only include the assumptions and other sources
of estimation uncertainty where there is a
significant risk of material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets or liabilities within the
next year.

	Provide the necessary disclosures around
uncertain tax positions.

	Consider the reasonably possible changes in
all key pension assumptions, and whether the
disclosed ranges are consistent with recent
variations.

Examples of disclosure
Kingfisher plc included insightful information on the risks inherent in their defined benefit investment
strategy.
Kingfisher plc

See more examples of disclosure in the
electronic version of this publication.
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13. Other financial statement disclosures

Only

9

companies indicated any involvement in debt
factoring, supplier ﬁnancing or similar

39%

of companies had business
combinations in the year, compared to

33%

last year

How was recoverable amount determined
for goodwill?

66

5

5

Value in use

Fair value less
costs of disposal

Both

Companies indicating the quantitative
impact of IFRS 16:

36
6
Precise
numbers

54

Cross-referring to
operating lease
commitments

12

companies stated that
they did not expect
IFRS 16 to have a
material impact

What reporting framework are parent
companies using?

42
6

2
Numerical
ranges

Only

Full IFRS

52
2

6

FRS 101

FRS 102
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Changes in 2017/18
There were relatively few changes to IFRS reporting
requirements in the past reporting season, although
companies did make some limited progress in areas of
recurring regulatory focus as explained below.
Perhaps the most significant change to actual
requirements was the introduction of IAS 7’s
requirement to disclose movements in liabilities arising
from financing activities, which became effective for
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2017. Of the
81 companies surveyed caught by this requirement,
only 57 provided information resembling that required,
although for a number of those omitting the disclosure
it appeared that they had little or nothing in the way of
liabilities arising from financing activities.
A wide variety of formats were used by companies,
some of which could be open to challenge. For
example, 37 companies included positive cash
balances as part of this disclosure, perhaps because
they then resembled net debt reconciliations
historically prepared under UK GAAP or perhaps
because this was felt to be more useful information for
users. However, whilst permitted, care should be taken
to still isolate the information required by IAS 7, which
specifically focuses on the movements in liabilities
– a pull-out box may be a good means of achieving
compliance in this regard.
Recent times have also seen regulators paying
increased attention to the accounting, presentation
and disclosure of debt factoring transactions, supplier
financing and similar, including in the statement of
cash flows. Only nine companies surveyed provided
some evidence in their financial statements of being
party to such transactions – a figure which seemed low
given the relatively widespread use of such facilities at
present. Preparers would be well advised to consider
whether their reports can be improved in this area.

Impairment testing of goodwill
80 companies had a goodwill balance at the yearend, including all of the FTSE 100 companies in
our population, which required them to produce
disclosures under IAS 36 in relation to impairment
testing. Continuing the trend of previous years it
was pleasing to see that 73 of the 76 companies
with significant goodwill identified key assumptions
for determining the recoverable amount of all the
relevant cash generating units (CGUs). 44 companies
included key assumptions other than just discount and
growth rates, including margins, commodity prices
and volumes amongst other things. However, of these
companies only six quantified some or all of these
additional assumptions.
Of the 76, 66 companies determined recoverable
amount with reference to the value in use, five using
fair value less costs to sell and five using a mixture of
the two methods.
49 companies had disclosed the impairment testing of
goodwill to be a key source of estimation uncertainty,
indicating that, per IAS 1, there was a significant risk
of material adjustment within the next 12 months.
However, only 31 companies in their goodwill note
stated that there was a reasonably possible change in a
key assumption that would give rise to an impairment.
Care should be taken to avoid any contradictory
disclosures in this regard.
In terms of sensitivity analyses, IAS 36 requires
disclosure of, amongst other things, how much a key
assumption would need to change by such that it
would give rise to an impairment, but only where such
a change is reasonably possible.
Only three companies with goodwill (2017: eight) did
not mention anything about sensitivity analyses. A
number of others elected instead to provide a short
negative statement that there were no reasonably
possible changes that would give rise to an impairment.
19 companies described the impact, or lack thereof,
of varying assumptions by plus or minus a certain
percentage, whilst 20 gave an indication of how much
assumptions would need to change by to produce an
impairment.
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Business combinations – goodwill and intangible
asset recognition
Of the 39 companies that had business combinations
in the year (2017:33), 31 recognised goodwill on these
business combinations. It is surprising to see that a
number of companies are leaving themselves open
to challenge in relation to the requirement to provide
a qualitative description of the factors that make up
goodwill either by not disclosing a description at all or
by including a generic description of goodwill.
Impact of forthcoming standards
Only one company surveyed had early adopted IFRS 9
Financial Instruments and another early adopted IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Unsurprisingly,
the vast majority did however indicate that they were
underway in their preparations for the new standard. In
what was the final year (at least for 81 of the companies
surveyed) before the mandatory implementation of
IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 and perhaps thanks to regulatory
pressure, it was pleasing that companies provided
more information in relation to these forthcoming
standards than in previous years.
In relation to IFRS 15, 65 companies stated that they
expected the standard to have an immaterial impact
on their accounts. Six companies indicated that the
new standard might have a material impact and a
further 20 stated that it would have an impact, implying
that it would be material. Of those 26 companies, 23
quantified the impact, of which four provided ranges
(as opposed to a precise number). It was disappointing
to see that eight companies were still unable to, or
chose not to, give any indication as to the impact the
new standard would have on them.
In terms of the approach to be taken on transition, 62
companies remained silent on which approach they
would take on adoption of IFRS 15, with 28 electing
the ‘modified retrospective’ application, whereby
comparative balances are not restated. The remaining
nine companies stated that they would be adopting
the standard with full retrospective effect. Only six
companies gave an indication of practical expedients
they would use in applying IFRS 15.
In a similar vein, 75 companies disclosed that they
expected IFRS 9 to have an immaterial impact and,
of the 19 companies that indicated they expected an
impact, 14 quantified this. Only three companies, none
of them banks, expressed an intent to restate their
prior year comparatives upon adoption of IFRS 9.
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Despite implementation of IFRS 16 Leases being an
additional year away, given the pervasiveness of
leasing, it came as no surprise that only 17 companies
were either unclear regarding commencement of a
transition project or indicated they hadn’t yet started
their preparations. Only 12 companies explicitly stated
that they did not expect a material impact, although
another 30 were silent on the impact.
Although no companies had early adopted the
standard, some appeared well advanced, with
eight already quantifying the impact, two by using
a range. A further 36 companies gave some idea
of the impact through a cross-reference to their
operating lease commitments. However, care should
be taken in adopting such an approach, due to
potential differences between IAS 17’s disclosures
on commitments and the amounts to be recognised
under IFRS 16. In terms of whether comparative
balances would be restated on transition, less progress
seemed to have been made with 88 either undecided
or silent.
Significant accounting policies and material
disclosures
Where accounting policies were presented in a
separate note (as opposed to interspersed throughout
multiple notes to the accounts), they were just
under eight pages long on average, an increase of
approximately one page compared to the previous
year. Unlike the length of annual reports, FTSE 100
companies do not have significantly longer accounting
policies than those outside the FTSE 350. The longest
accounting policy note was 17 pages, four pages longer
than the next one at 13.
Parent company financial statements
52 of the parent company financial statements
surveyed were prepared under FRS 101, with 42
continuing to use full IFRS and just 6 using FRS 102.
With the requirement to notify shareholders ahead of
adopting FRS 101 having been removed, and increased
flexibility to adapt the statutory formats, with FRS 101
reporters now permitted to use IFRS titles, over time
there may be a gradual shift from full IFRS to FRS 101.
At present, just over half the FRS 101 and FRS 102
reporters adapted the statutory formats to use IFRS
titles.
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What to watch out for
	Take care, especially in the first year of adoption,
to provide clear and comprehensive disclosures
required by IFRS 9 and IFRS 15.
	Where IFRS 16, the new leasing standard, has
not yet been adopted, provide company-specific
disclosure on the anticipated impact.

	Ensure appropriate consistency between
disclosures, for example IAS 1’s critical
judgements and key sources of estimation
uncertainty and the associated account balance
notes.
	Provide appropriate disclosure on debt factoring
transactions, supplier financing and similar
arrangements, ensuring that associated cash
flows are also appropriately classified in the cash
flow statement.

Examples of disclosure
Rightmove plc provided company-specific information on the impact IFRS 16 is expected to have.
Rightmove plc

Mears Group PLC provided a reconciliation of movements in liabilities arising from financing activities.
Mears Group PLC

See more examples of disclosure in the
electronic version of this publication.
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Appendix 1 – The preparation process
When implementing the recommendations set out in this document, it is
important to work to an achievable timetable. Getting as much as possible
done in advance of the year end, when there is less pressure on the timetable,
reduces the burden during the post year end reporting cycle.
In order to help you achieve your objectives we have provided a suggested
2018/19 plan below, as well as suggestions for what could be on the agenda
for your planning meeting.
A suggested timetable for 2018/19 (For December reporters)
October 2018
By mid October
•• Planning meeting of contributors to agree responsibilities, process and governance, including how to assess
whether the report is fair, balanced and understandable, plus decide the overall structure for the report
•• Identify opportunities to make the report clearer and more concise
November 2018
Early to mid November
•• Contributors draft templates for their areas of responsibility
•• Structure of draft report pulled together and reviewed for duplication
•• Areas for linkage identified and highlighted in the draft report
Late November/early December
•• Auditors review the structure of the report and provide comments
December 2018
By mid December
•• Disclosure Committee (or equivalent) approve overall structure and technical compliance of the report
January 2019
•• Draft report presented to the Audit Committee for initial comment on key messages, themes and overall balance
•• Report sections updated for final messages based on year end results
•• Cross‑check for consistency with other planned or existing public reporting
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February 2019
•• Audit Committee assesses annual report on behalf of the Board – is it comprehensive and is it fair, balanced
and understandable?
•• Remuneration report reviewed by Remuneration Committee
•• Report sections formally presented for review
•• Chairmen of Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees compose introductions to their reports
By late February/March
•• Final report presented to Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Board for approval

Suggested agenda for annual report planning meeting
•• Consider how you will ensure that all elements of your annual report meet the regulatory requirements and
effectively convey strategically important information to shareholders
•• Agree the key messages and themes that will flow through the report, as far as they are understood at this
stage, getting Audit Committee and Board buy in at a sufficiently early stage
•• Discuss and agree how materiality will be applied to the annual report as a whole
•• With the design team, discuss the key messages and themes and how these can be brought to life
through design
•• With the website team, discuss your approach to digital communication alongside the key messages and
themes, to agree any advance design work to be done on the website
•• Plan how you will avoid the “silo effect”:
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Appendix 2 – Timeline of key corporate
reporting changes
Effective for periods commencing on or after:
1 January 2017

•• EU Non-financial reporting directive
•• New IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows disclosures

1 January 2018

•• New IFRSs on revenue and financial instruments

1 January 2019

•• New IFRS on leasing
•• New UK Corporate Governance Code and revised Guidance on Board Effectiveness
•• The Companies (Miscellaneous reporting) Regulations 2018

1 January 2021

•• New IFRS on insurance contracts

Other significant initiatives ongoing
FRC’s clear and concise initiative
IIRC integrated reporting framework
Financial reporting lab projects on performance metrics and digital future
FRC thematic reviews on:
•• targeted aspects of smaller listed and AIM quoted company reports and accounts;
•• the effect of the new International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) on revenue and financial instruments on
companies’ 2018 interim accounts;
•• the expected effect of the new IFRS for lease accounting; and
•• the effects of Brexit on companies’ disclosure of principal risks and uncertainties.
IASB standard setting on definition of material and rate-regulated activities
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Appendix 3 - Additional examples of
disclosure
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Strategy and business model disclosures
St James’s Place plc
An example of clearly identifying in the
business model key stakeholders and the
value created for them is St James’s Place
plc.

Brewin Dolphin Holdings PLC
Brewin Dolphin Holdings PLC clearly links
its KPIs to each relevant strand of their
strategy to facilitate measurement of their
performance to date, as well as providing
an indication, where applicable, of potential
challenges to success.
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Stakeholder disclosures
Barclays PLC
A good example of disclosure of acting
fairly between members is Barclays PLC
which details engagement throughout the
year with institutional investors and private
investors.

Anglo American plc
Anglo American plc identifies its key
stakeholders, summarising how they have
engaged with them, what their material
matters were and how these link to the
broader strategy
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Alternative performance measures and
KPIs disclosures
Lonmin Plc
Lonmin Plc provide a good example of KPIs being clearly presented and
explained, tied in to strategy and referenced to directors’ remuneration.
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Risks and opportunities disclosures
Unite Group PLC
Unite Group PLC provides good narrative
on how the principal risks are linked to
strategic objectives and discloses the focus
for the ensuing financial year.

The Weir Group PLC
In describing their risk appetite, the Weir
Group PLC provide insight into the risk
parameters applicable to each of their risk
assertions.
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Viability statement disclosures
Marks and Spencer Group plc
Marks and Spencer Group plc explains
that risks are modelled in combination,
describes potential mitigations for risks and
explains the assumptions applied, including
relating to Brexit.

Informa PLC
Informa PLC clearly draws out how it has
assessed the prospects of the group
and includes consideration of upcoming
business developments
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Mears Group PLC
Mears Group PLC explains the risks and the
scenarios applied in a good level of detail
and includes thoughtful commentary on
the resilience of the business model.
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Board and director stewardship
disclosures
Informa PLC
Informa PLC includes an illustrative case
study on values and culture, a technique
to communicate culture that has been
recommended by the FRC.

BT Group plc
BT Group plc provides a detailed
explanation of its external board evaluation
process.
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Countryside Properties PLC
Countryside Properties PLC describes in
the audit committee report the assurance
the board and the audit committee have
obtained over information security and
cyber risk.

Howden Joinery Group Plc
Howden Joinery Group Plc summarises
key elements of its application of the
main Code principles and provides crossreferences to where additional information
can be found in the annual report.
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Succession and diversity disclosures
Barclays PLC
Barclays PLC explains the approach taken to board composition,
including the use of a skills matrix and consideration of diversity
and of the executive pipeline.
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Mondi plc
Mondi plc’s board explains its approach to and targets for diversity
at board level, includes Hampton-Alexander disclosures on gender
diversity and describes how it tracks diversity in the business.
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Marks and Spencer Group plc
Marks and Spencer Group plc provides clear information about
progress against the board’s diversity objectives and about
developing a diverse pipeline of executive talent.

Rightmove plc
Rightmove plc explains its board gender diversity and its target
and provides disclosure of the gender diversity on the executive
committee and their direct reports.
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Accountability and internal control
disclosures
International Personal Finance plc
International Personal Finance plc draws
out the scope of internal audit activity and
the link between the audit plan and the
principal risks of the business.

Marks and Spencer Group plc
Marks and Spencer Group Plc provides
good detail on how they have assessed
the effectiveness of the auditor, including
their conclusion, rationale and a plan for
improving audit quality in the coming year.
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Croda International Plc
Croda International Plc provides details of its audit tender process,
including the criteria supporting audit quality.

TBC Bank Group PLC
TBC Bank Group PLC provides a detailed explanation of the audit
committee’s relationship with the auditor and their interactions.
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Judgements and estimates, tax and
pensions disclosures
National Grid plc
National Grid plc provides a detailed
sensitivity analysis in respect of the
key sources of estimation uncertainty,
presented in a separate note to the
financial statements.

Laird PLC
The disclosure pinpoints the area of
estimation uncertainty rather than more
generally referring to testing goodwill for
impairment.
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LSL Property Services plc
LSL Property Services plc provide a
good example of the new disclosure
requirements of IAS7.44A in a clear
reconciliation format.

IP Group plc
IP Group plc provide a table clearly showing
the key assumptions quantified for the
purposes of impairment testing by IP
Group plc.

Vodafone Group Plc
Vodafone Group Plc give a good example
of the sensitivity analysis required by
IAS36.134(f).

Informa Plc
Informa Plc gave a precise disclosure,
avoiding boilerplate descriptions, of the
factors leading to goodwill.
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Appendix 4 – Regulatory overview
The big picture
The demands placed on companies in relation to
their corporate reporting by regulators and investors
continue to evolve. To assist companies in addressing
these changing demands, the FRC continues to issue
helpful guidance as part of its long-standing ‘Clear &
Concise Reporting’ initiative, as well as through the
work of its Financial Reporting Lab.
Since we published our last annual report insights
survey, the Financial Reporting Lab has issued:
•• Disclosure of dividends – policy and practice (October
2017) examines how companies have responded to
suggestions for enhanced disclosure. It also includes
some examples of developing practice.
•• Risk and viability reporting (November 2017) – looks
at the views of companies and investors on the key
attributes of principal risk and viability reporting,
their value and use. It also includes some illustrative
examples of reporting favoured by investors.
•• Reporting of Performance metrics – an investor
perspective (June 2018) which sets out a framework
and set of questions for companies and their
boards to consider when reviewing the reporting of
performance metrics.
•• Blockchain and the future of corporate reporting –
how does it measure up (June 2018) which explores
some of the potential use-cases and impacts on
corporate reporting.
The following parts of our regulatory overview examine
requirements and hot topics in respect of narrative
reporting, corporate governance and financial
reporting.

Narrative reporting
This past year, the UK implementation of the EU
Directive on disclosure of non‑financial and diversity
information (NFR Directive) became effective1. This
requires companies within scope to include a nonfinancial information statement in their strategic
report. 70 companies in our survey were within scope
by virtue of year end and size. Our results indicate
that many companies found the new requirements a
challenge (see section 4).
Another significant development this year, which will
take effect for periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019, is the publication of new reporting requirements
stemming from the government’s agenda for corporate
governance reform. The new requirements aim
to strengthen the link between section 172 of the
Companies Act 2006 (s172), described below, and the
strategic report to help the report provide greater
insight into whether boardroom decisions have taken
wider stakeholder interests into account2. The FRC has
updated its Guidance on the Strategic Report to reflect
these developments3.
Existing requirements
The strategic report
Other than for small companies, which are exempt,
the main component of the narrative section of an
annual report is the strategic report, as required by
section 414A of the Companies Act 2006. Companies
are also required by section 415 of the Act to include
a directors’ report. Since the introduction of the
strategic report this mainly contains basic compliance
disclosures although recent corporate governance
reform has seen some additional requirements added.
The Disclosure Guidelines and Transparency Rules
(DTR) of the Financial Conduct Authority also
require most listed companies to prepare an annual
‘management report’ to accompany their financial
statements. However, with one small exception, these
requirements duplicate existing requirements within
the law concerning the content of the directors’ report
and strategic report.
The purpose of the strategic report is to provide
information for shareholders and help them to assess
how the directors have performed their duty, under
s172, to promote the success of the company and,
in so doing so, had regard to the matters set out in
that section4. These matters include a number of
nonfinancial considerations:
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•• the likely consequences of any decision in the long
term;
•• the interests of the company’s employees;
•• the need to foster the company’s business
relationships with suppliers, customers and others;
•• the impact of the company’s operations on the
community and the environment;
•• the desirability of the company maintaining a
reputation for high standards of business conduct,
and
•• the need to act fairly as between members of the
company.
The content requirements for the strategic report
differ depending on whether a company is a quoted
company or a public interest entity (PIE), as defined
below. This is due to the way that the NFR Directive was
implemented into UK law as it resulted in two similar,
but different, sets of requirements operating in parallel
for quoted companies within scope, which leads to
some complexity. The FRC, in its updated Strategic
Report Guidance, has tried to help companies by
producing one set of guidance for those entities which
are PIEs (section 7B) and one set for those which are
not (section 7A).
For all quoted companies, the strategic report is
required to include5:
•• a fair review of the company’s business, including
elements such as a description of the company’s
business model, its strategy and information about
corporate social responsibility (see sections 3, 4 and
5 for more details);
•• to the extent necessary for an understanding
of the development, performance or position of
the company, analysis using financial and, where
appropriate, non‑financial KPIs (see section 5 for
more details); and
•• a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the company. The UK Corporate Governance
Code and associated guidance also contains
requirements in this area (see section 7 for more
details).

Also, many companies choose to present the longer
term viability statement and going concern disclosures
required by the 2016 Code as part of their strategic
report (see section 8 for more details).
Non-financial information statement
For periods commencing on or after 1 January
2017, those entities that are PIEs need to include a
non‑financial information statement (NFI statement) in
their strategic report6. A PIE is defined as:
a.		a traded company (which means a company any of
whose transferable securities (debt or equity) are
admitted to trading on a regulated market in the
EEA);a banking company; an authorised insurance
company; or a company carrying on insurance
market activity; and
b. parents of a group with more than 500 employees.
The content of the NFI statement is similar but not
identical to the strategic report requirements above
so companies will need to be careful that they include
all the relevant elements that apply to them. For
large quoted companies, the NFI statement builds
on the existing requirements of the strategic report
by introducing specific requirements to disclose
information on anti‑corruption and bribery matters
(including related policies), to discuss due diligence
over non-financial policies and to explain the impact
of and risks relating to various non‑financial reporting
matters.
Disclosure does not need to be duplicated – there are
exemptions from some of the existing strategic report
requirements for companies which are required to
include a NFI statement. However, the FRC’s Guidance
makes clear that a separate NFI statement will need to
be made in the strategic report, but cross references
can be made from that statement to the relevant
content that is included elsewhere in the strategic
report.
Our findings on how companies have addressed the
new requirements this year are discussed in section 4
(on stakeholders).
The FRC’s revised Guidance includes a lot of
information for companies on how to present the
content requirements of the strategic report most
effectively.
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The updated version of the Guidance, which has been
enhanced to recognise the increasing importance of
non-financial reporting, reflects the new requirements
of the NFR Directive and enhances the link between
the purpose of the strategic report and the matters
directors should have regard to under s172.
The <IR> Framework also gives guidance on reporting
requirements that will be helpful to UK companies.
However, the <IR> Framework goes further than this,
introducing the concept of ‘Integrated Thinking’ –
challenging and enabling companies to ‘live their story’
rather than merely tell it. Integrated reporting (<IR>) is
discussed in more detail throughout this report – look
out for the <IR> boxes.
Alternative Performance Measures
Listed companies are still getting to grips with the
European Securities and Markets Authority’s (ESMA’s)
Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures
(APMs)7.
These guidelines apply to a variety of documents but,
in particular, include within their scope the narrative
sections of annual reports (but not the financial
statements themselves). Although they are described
as ‘Guidelines’, ESMA has stated that they expect
compliance with them to be enforced by national
regulators.
In a UK context, the FRC has issued a number of
publications explaining that they are assessing how
companies are meeting the requirements of the ESMA
Guidelines as part of the activities of their Conduct
Committee, i.e. reviews of company annual reports.
These include their annual review of corporate
reporting8 and their findings from their second
thematic review 9 of the use of APMs. Also, recently
published is a report from the Financial Reporting Lab
of the FRC on performance metrics10 which includes an
investor perspective on the reporting of performance
metrics.
Deloitte has produced a practical guide to the ESMA
Guidelines11 to assist preparers in complying with the
requirements. Similarly, ESMA itself has issued a set of
Q&As in relation to its Guidelines12.
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The Guidelines set out a framework for the
presentation of APMs, also known as non‑GAAP
measures, aimed at promoting their usefulness and
transparency. In particular, they require that:
•• APMs should be defined and the basis of calculation
set out;
•• APMs should be reconciled to the most directly
reconcilable line item, subtotal or total presented in
the financial statements;
•• APMs should not be displayed with more
prominence, emphasis or authority than the most
directly comparable measure defined by the entity’s
financial reporting framework;
•• APMs should be accompanied by comparatives for
the corresponding previous period; and
•• APMs should be consistent over time, with changes in
or the cessation of use of an APM explained.
Our findings on the presentation of APMs are
discussed in section 5.
Statements outside the annual report
There are various reporting requirements for
companies, aimed to increase transparency, which
require publication on a website rather than as part of
a company’s annual report. These include:
•• a slavery and human trafficking statement, as
required by the Modern Slavery Act 201513. (see
section 4); and
•• disclosure of tax strategy14.
Companies will also be required to comply with the
following:
•• gender pay gap reporting came into force on 6 April
2017 with the first disclosures being required by 4
April 2018; and
•• payment practices and performance disclosure
needs to be made by large companies for years
commencing on or after 6 April 2017.
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Publication of all the above is required to be on a
website rather than as part of a company’s annual
report. However, where issues in these areas are
material to the business, companies will need to
consider whether disclosure should also be provided
to meet the above requirements of the strategic
report. We looked at the extent to which companies
are deciding to include this information in their annual
report (see sections 4 and 6).
New requirements for December 2018 year-ends
Although there are no mandatory new requirements
for years ended 31 December 2018, there are various
areas of regulatory focus, set out below, where many
companies could improve their reporting. Companies
may also wish to look to the FRC’s updated guidance
on the strategic report and the forthcoming changes to
narrative reporting, described further below.
Areas of regulatory focus
Narrative reporting is under increasing scrutiny - the
strategic report is the second most commonly raised
issue in the FRC’s corporate reporting reviews. The
FRC is aware of concerns regarding a lack of trust in big
business and that expectations of corporate reporting
are rising, particularly in respect of:
1) recognising the importance for the long-term
success of the company of engagement with
employees, customers, suppliers and other
stakeholders. The FRC is encouraging companies to be
more transparent about how they are engaging various
stakeholders and distributing the value they create
amongst different groups of those stakeholders, such
as in the form of dividends, pay and benefits, capital
investments and tax; and
2) the need to communicate how a company generates
and preserves value.
The FRC’s updated Strategic Report Guidance has been
enhanced to recognise the increasing importance of
non-financial reporting and encourages companies
to consider wider stakeholders and broader matters
that impact performance over the longer term. Future
changes to reporting requirements in this area are also
described below.
The following areas of regulatory focus have been
identified in relation to narrative reporting.

•• The business review included within the
strategic report should be fair, balanced and
comprehensive. This includes balancing analyses
that use non‑GAAP measures with analyses that
use unadjusted metrics and ensuring discussions
of performance and position are suitably
comprehensive and not omitting ‘bad news’.
Companies should also ensure that they provide a
fair and balanced assessment of performance and
prospects that covers both positive and negative
aspects.
•• Presentation of alternative performance measures
is still a significant focus area given the requirements
introduced by the ESMA Guidelines. In addition, the
identification of items excluded from APMs (often
described as ‘exceptional items’) is also likely to
be an area of continued focus – see the financial
statements section of this appendix for more detail.
•• The linkage and consistency of the information
included in the ‘front half’ and ‘back half’ of the
annual report. Companies should ensure that there
is cohesion between the information reported and
effective linkage throughout the annual report. For
example, consistency would be expected between
the items identified as part of capital when discussing
capital management in the front and back halves of
the report. Similarly, the description of reconciling
items in a company’s tax note should be consistent
with discussions in the strategic report. The FRC has
also highlighted15 that they want companies to pay
attention to ensuring the links between the financial
statements and discussions of strategy, performance
including KPIs, financial position and cash flows are
clear.
•• Ensuring that information provided is companyspecific and material to an understanding of the
business, its performance and prospects.
•• Identification of principal risks and uncertainties.
Companies should ensure that the risks and
uncertainties disclosed are genuinely principal and
make sure they discuss how risks are identified,
managed or mitigated. Linkage between risks and
strategic objectives and KPIs has been specifically
highlighted as needing to be clearly disclosed. There
is a particular focus on those systemic risks such as
climate risk, Brexit and cyber risk.
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•• The FRC expects reference to be made to the
impact of climate change where relevant for an
understanding of the company’s activities. Omitting
this would question whether the strategic report is
comprehensive.
•• A number of suggestions for improvement of
disclosure of business models were made in
the FRC’s Financial Reporting Lab’s report in 2016.
Companies should, therefore, expect more scrutiny
in this area, e.g. in respect of articulating the key
drivers of the business.
•• Where in scope, ensure that the requirements for the
non-financial information statement are covered.
•• Identification of KPIs. Companies should consider
whether ratios that are discussed prominently in the
strategic report should be identified as KPIs, and that
where APMs are identified as KPIs the information
required by the ESMA Guidelines is given. Where
KPIs have changed year on year, changes should be
explained.
•• Disclosure of dividend policy and practice (i.e. how
the policy is applied in taking decisions to declare
dividends) as well as the level of distributable reserves
will be an area of focus, especially after the FRC’s latest
Financial Reporting Lab report on this topic (published
in October 2017) made a number of suggestions to
improve disclosure.
•• The impact of the EU referendum decision has
been highlighted as an area where the FRC expects
to see more detailed disclosure as the economic and
political effects develop.
Looking further ahead
The government has published new reporting
requirements for private and public companies in
response to its consultation on corporate governance
reform. The Companies (Miscellaneous reporting)
Regulations 201816 introduce the following new
reporting requirements for periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019:
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•• All large companies (private as well as public) must
include a section 172(1) statement in their strategic
report which describes how their directors have
complied with their duty to promote the success of
the company for the benefit of its members whilst
having regard to the matters set out in section 172(1)
(a)(f) (see above)
We looked for an indication that the s172 matters
were considered by those companies in our survey.
Most companies clearly considered employees and
environment. See section 4.
•• The directors’ report of all large companies (private
as well as public) must include more information on
how directors have had regard to the need to foster
the company’s business relationships with suppliers,
customers and others, and the effect of that regard
on the principal decisions taken by the company
during the financial year. Requirements are also
added in respect of how directors have engaged with
employees, had regard to employee interests, and
the effect of that regard on the principal decisions
taken by the company during the financial year.
Section 4 of our survey discusses the trends
we are seeing with respect to engagement with
stakeholders.
•• All companies of a “significant size” must disclose
their corporate governance arrangements in their
directors’ report and on their website, including
whether they follow any formal code (excluding
companies such as listed companies which are
already required to report on their corporate
governance arrangements – see below).
•• All quoted companies must also comply with new
reporting requirements that have been introduced
in respect of CEO pay ratios and long-term incentive
outcomes.
Further details can be found in our Need to Know17.
The FRC’s updated Guidance on the Strategic Report
includes guidance on how companies might approach
the section 172(1) statement.

Annual report insights 2018| Surveying FTSE reporting

Corporate governance
This past year the main new requirement for premium
listed companies was the update to the DTR, requiring
companies to describe their diversity policy in
relation to the board, including aspects such as age,
gender, geographical diversity and educational and
professional background, in the corporate governance
statement (see section 10).
Much of the reporting focus for companies and the
Financial Reporting Council (the FRC) has been on
areas being explored for the purpose of improved
communication between companies and investors, in
particular viability statements (see section 8) and audit
committee reporting (see section 11).
New legislative requirements arising from the
Government’s corporate governance reform agenda,
together with the fundamental changes built into the
2018 version of the UK Corporate Governance Code,
will come into effect for periods commencing on or
after 1 January 2019, with pressure from investors to
adopt certain of the disclosure requirements early,
particularly with regard to executive pay.
Existing requirements
Listed companies are required by the Listing Rules to
make certain disclosures about corporate governance
in their annual reports. Companies with a premium
listing are required to state how they have applied
the main principles set out in the UK Corporate
Governance Code18 (the Code) issued by the FRC.
This should be sufficient to enable shareholders to
evaluate how the principles have been applied. They
are also required to make a statement of compliance
throughout the year with all relevant Code provisions,
identifying provisions that have not been complied with
and explaining their reasons for this non-compliance.
The FRC has issued guidance19 on what constitutes
a meaningful explanation. The Listing Rules also
require disclosures regarding certain provisions
of the Code, including those on the preparation of
financial statements on a going concern basis and the
preparation of a longer term viability statement.
During the period covered by this year’s survey,
companies had to report on their compliance with
the 2016 Code, which is supported by the FRC’s
Guidance on Board Effectiveness20, Guidance on Risk
Management, Internal Control and Related Financial
and Business Reporting21, and by the Guidance on
Audit Committees22.

The FRC’s guidance documents include
recommendations regarding disclosure in the annual
report. Alongside the 2016 Code, a new FRC Ethical
Standard for Auditors also became effective for periods
commencing on or after 17 June 2016, which places
additional restrictions on the non-audit services that
can be provided by the external auditor. Disclosure
recommendations regarding non-audit services are
incorporated into the Guidance on Audit Committees.23
The main components of a company’s corporate
governance report are:
•• a statement on how the company has applied the
main principles of the Code and a statement of
compliance with the detailed provisions of the Code
(see section 9), often with an introduction from the
Chairman of the board focusing on the principles of
accountability and effectiveness;
•• statements on the robust assessment of principal
risks and the longer term viability statement (see
section 8), which some companies include as part
of their corporate governance report, although
the majority have presented these as part of their
strategic report;
•• a report on the work of the audit committee, in
particular its role in oversight of effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems, in
assuring the integrity of the company’s financial
reporting, such as its detailed consideration and
challenge of management regarding the significant
issues affecting the financial statements, and in its
oversight of relationships with both internal audit
and the external auditor, covering effectiveness and
scope and (for the external auditor) tendering and
non-audit services (see section 11 for more details);
and
•• reports from the other significant board committees,
in particular the nomination committee regarding
succession and diversity (see section 10 for more
details), the remuneration committee and, where
constituted, the risk committee.
Quoted companies reporting under the Act are
required to include a directors’ remuneration report.
This report must contain a statement by the chair of
the remuneration committee telling the story of the
year in respect of remuneration.
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The report is split into a policy report, which is not
subject to audit and is not required to be presented
in full in years where there will not be a vote on the
company’s remuneration policy, and an annual report
on remuneration, some elements of which are subject
to audit. The policy report is subject to a binding
shareholder vote every three years, or whenever the
policy is to change. The annual report on remuneration
is subject to an annual advisory vote and includes a
“single figure” directors’ remuneration table. The GC100
and Investor Group has published guidance on these
requirements, which was updated in August 201624.
Updates to the DTR, reflecting the diversity
requirements of the EU Non-Financial Reporting
Directive, came into effect for periods commencing on
or after 1 January 2017.
These require companies within scope – public interest
entities that are not small or medium sized – to
describe their diversity policy in relation to the board,
including aspects such as age, gender, geographical
diversity and educational and professional background,
in the corporate governance statement. As well as
describing the policy, or providing a clear explanation if
no such policy exists, they must explain the objectives
of the policy, how it has been implemented and the
results of the policy in the reporting period. Where this
information is incorporated into existing disclosures
outside the corporate governance statement, a
suitable cross-reference should be provided.
New requirements for December 2018 year-ends
There are no new corporate governance requirements
this year for premium listed companies with years
commencing on or after 1 January 2018. This provides
a welcome opportunity for companies to focus instead
on embedding previous reporting requirements
and planning for the substantial changes for periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2019. However there
continue to be areas receiving regulatory focus which
we have set out below.
For companies on the Alternative Investment Market
(AIM), corporate governance disclosure requirements
have changed and will now require companies to
report on the application of a recognised corporate
governance code, with an implementation date of 28
September 2018. The Quoted Companies Alliance
has issued a revised version of the QCA Corporate
Governance Code to coincide with this change.25
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Areas of regulatory focus
Corporate governance is currently an area of
substantial focus for Government, regulators such as
the FRC, and investors along with their representative
organisations. Much of the focus over the past year
has been on the corporate governance reform changes
implemented in July 2018 through legislative change
and a new 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code, all of
which will come into effect for periods commencing on
or after 1 January 2019.
The FRC has encouraged companies to consider and
bring some of the related disclosures in the strategic
report into effect early, through its revised Guidance
on the Strategic Report and guidance on implementing
non-financial reporting (see above).
Some of the other areas that the FRC is focusing on
include:
•• Further improvements to viability statements, which
the FRC highlights is a priority for investors.26 One
of the key focus areas for the FRC and for investors
is the disclosure of prospects as well as viability.
The FRC has explained that it envisages a two stage
process to meet the Code provision with clearly
differentiated reporting on each stage – the first
being about the assessment of the prospects of the
company, including the resilience of the business
model, and the second being about the directors’
reasonable expectation of viability for the period
of their assessment. The FRC anticipates that the
period over which directors assess the prospects
of the company will be longer than the period for
the viability assessment. This is also consistent with
the Investment Association’s Guidelines on Viability
Statements27 and with the findings of the FRC’s
Financial Reporting Lab’s report on Risk and Viability
Reporting.28
•• Succession planning and corporate culture
disclosures have each been the subject of recent FRC
projects and feature in the new 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code (see below).
•• The FRC is encouraging companies to review their
Brexit disclosures regularly. In particular, it calls
for companies to make their disclosures on the
uncertainties arising as a result of Brexit more
specific, identifying the nature of the likely risks and
ensuring the disclosure reflects their latest analysis of
the potential impact on the business.
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The FRC has launched a new Lab along the lines of
the Financial Reporting Lab in order to foster dialogue
between audit committees, investors and auditors. The
Audit & Assurance Lab published its first report, Audit
Committee Reporting, in December 2017. This report
“focuses on the good practice elements of existing
audit committee reporting, and encourages audit
committees to consider adopting them.”29
The report’s key recommendations on audit committee
reporting include:
•• It is useful to bring out key messages, for instance in
an introductory statement from the chair.
•• More concise reporting is more likely to be read,
enabling key information to be identified by investors
•• Explain in the audit committee report why the
significant issues relating to the financial statements
were deemed to be significant, what challenges the
audit committee raised on those issues and what the
conclusion was. The disclosure on significant issues
should be easily identified and understood.
•• Sufficient emphasis should be placed on audit
quality and auditor independence, in particular
disclosure is useful when there is a planned external
audit tender.
•• Make it clear what the audit committee’s role is in
relation to internal control, risk management, and
internal audit, in particular where there are other
committees such as a risk committee that may share
responsibility in this area.
Looking further ahead
2018 UK Corporate Governance Code
Under the Government’s corporate governance reform
initiatives, elements of reform are being brought in
through the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code,
issued by the FRC in final form on 16 July 2018 and
accompanied by new Guidance on Board Effectiveness,
effective for periods commencing on or after 1 January
2019. The FRC took the opportunity to perform a
fundamental review and has also covered recent
hot topics including corporate purpose, s172 of the
Companies Act 2006 (described above), succession
planning, corporate culture and diversity.

The changes to the Code are wide-ranging and
principles-based. They are aimed squarely at
companies achieving long-term, sustainable success.
Reporting under the Code and the associated guidance
is expected to demonstrate “how the governance of
the company contributes to its long-term sustainable
success and achieves wider objectives”.30
In this context, the key new elements of reporting
requirements under the new Code are below.
On board leadership and company purpose, much of
which is likely to be covered in the strategic report:
•• The board should describe how opportunities and
risks to the future success of the business have been
considered and addressed, the sustainability of the
company’s business model and how its governance
contributes to the delivery of its strategy.
•• The board should assess and monitor culture and
ensure corrective action is taken where required.
Disclosure should explain the board’s activities, any
action taken, and an explanation of the company’s
approach to investing in and rewarding its workforce.
•• Where there has been a 20 per cent or greater vote
against a resolution, the board should seek feedback
and provide a final summary on what impact this has
had on the decisions the board has taken and any
actions or resolutions now proposed.
•• The board should describe how the views of the
company’s key stakeholders and the other matters
set out in s172 of the Companies Act 2006 have
been considered in board discussions and decisionmaking. Whilst this is similar to the legislative
requirement explained in the narrative reporting
section of this regulatory overview, as it falls within
the Code it applies to all premium listed companies,
not only those that are UK registered.
•• If the board does not use one of the three methods
of workforce engagement described in provision
5 of the Code, it should explain what alternative
arrangements are in place and why it considers that
they are effective.
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On division of responsibilities:
•• The board should provide a clear explanation where
it considers a non-executive director is independent
regardless of any of the circumstances outlined in
the Code which may impair independence, or other
relevant circumstances which may suggest that a
non-executive director’s independence is impaired.

On remuneration, most disclosure requirements have
historically not been included in the Code. However,
the new Code requires a description of the work of the
remuneration committee, including:
•• the strategic rationale for executive directors’
remuneration policies, structures and any
performance metrics;

•• The reasons for permitting directors to undertake
other significant external appointments should be
explained.

•• reasons why the remuneration is appropriate using
internal and external measures, including pay ratios
and pay gaps;

On composition, succession and evaluation, including
nomination committee reporting:

•• a description, with examples, of how the
remuneration committee has addressed the factors
affecting policy and practices: clarity, simplicity,
risk, predictability, proportionality and alignment to
culture;

•• The papers accompanying the resolutions to elect
each director should set out the specific reasons why
their contribution is, and continues to be, important
to the company’s long-term sustainable success.
(In practice, we expect this disclosure will generally
be in the annual report which accompanies the
resolutions.) Also see section 10.
•• A clear explanation should be provided where the
chair remains in post beyond nine years from the
date of their first appointment to the board (for
succession planning purposes).
•• Enhancement of disclosures regarding board
evaluation, including the nature and extent of the
external evaluator’s contact with the board and
individual directors, the outcomes and actions taken,
and how it has or will influence board composition.
•• Diversity disclosures, including how succession
planning supports developing a diverse board,
and the gender balance of those in the senior
management and their direct reports.31
On audit, risk and internal control, including audit
committee or risk committee reporting:
•• Where there is no internal audit function, in addition
to explaining why this is the case, there should be an
explanation of how internal assurance is achieved,
and how this affects the work of external audit.
•• In addition to the existing disclosures regarding
principal risks, the board should carry out a robust
assessment of the company’s emerging risks and
explain what procedures are in place to identify
emerging risks.
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•• whether the remuneration policy operated as
intended and, if not, what changes are necessary;
•• what engagement has taken place with shareholders
and the impact this has had;
•• what engagement with the workforce has taken
place; and
•• to what extent discretion has been applied to
remuneration outcomes and the reasons why.
These changes will come into effect for periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2019.
Changes for large private companies
As mentioned above, the Secretary of State made
The Companies (Miscellaneous reporting) Regulations
201832 on 17 July 2018 in response to the Government’s
corporate governance reform agenda.
This includes the requirement for all companies with
either 2,000 or more global employees, or a turnover
over £200m globally and a balance sheet over £2bn
globally, to disclose their corporate governance
arrangements in their directors’ report and on their
website, including whether they follow any formal code.33
This applies for periods commencing on or after 1
January 2019 and falls on individual companies that are
not otherwise required to make corporate governance
disclosures in the annual report, including AIM
companies and subsidiaries of listed businesses that
meet the size criteria.
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Financial statements
Listed groups are required to prepare consolidated accounts under IFRSs as adopted by the EU, although whether
and for how long the EU endorsement aspect will remain unaltered once the UK leaves the EU is at present unclear.
Listed entities that are not parent companies, such as many investment trusts, can also choose to prepare financial
statements using FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102).
The separate financial statements of a ‘qualifying entity’ can be prepared under FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework (FRS 101), which closely reflects IFRS accounting but with reduced disclosures. If eligible, this may be
an attractive option for many parent companies’ separate financial statements and for their subsidiaries. Another
option is to apply FRS 102 with reduced disclosure. There is no longer a requirement for companies applying FRS
101 or reduced disclosures under FRS 102 to notify their shareholders in writing.
The past year saw relatively few changes coming into force for the reports covered by our survey this year – the
most significant was an amendment to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, discussed in section 13.
New requirements for December 2018 year-ends
Below is a list of the new IFRS requirements coming into force for financial years ending between September 2018
and August 2019. Hyperlinks to further information are included in the table.

Title

As issued by the IASB
mandatory for accounting
periods starting on or after

Per the EU adopting regulation,
mandatory for accounting
periods beginning on or after

Amendments to IAS 7 (Jan 2016) –
Disclosure Initiative

1 January 2017

1 January 2017

Amendments to IAS 12 (Jan 2016) –
Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses

1 January 2017

1 January 2017

Annual Improvements to IFRSs: 2014-16
Cycle (Dec 2016) – IFRS 12 Amendments

1 January 2017

1 January 2017

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments

1 January 2018

1 January 2018

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (including clarifications)

1 January 2018

1 January 2018

IFRIC 22 – Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

1 January 2018

1 January 2018

Amendments to IFRS 2 (Jun 2016) –
Classification and Measurement of Sharebased Payment Transactions

1 January 2018

1 January 2018

Amendments to IFRS 4 (Sept 2016) –
1 January 2018
Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

1 January 2018

Amendments to IAS 40 (Dec 2016) –
Transfers of Investment Property

1 January 2018

1 January 2018

Annual Improvements to IFRSs: 2014-16
Cycle (Dec 2016) – IFRS 1 and IAS 28
Amendments

1 January 2018

1 January 2018
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Areas of regulatory focus
In November 2017, the FRC published findings from its
thematic reviews into the disclosure of judgements and
estimates under IAS 134 and defined benefit pension
disclosures under IAS 1935. A report was also published
following a thematic review into the use of alternative
performance measures36, focusing on application of
the relevant ESMA Guidelines, which only apply to
companies’ narrative reporting, but contain points
that may also be of relevance to non-GAAP measures
included in the financial statements. In all three areas
improvements had been noted in certain areas,
although the FRC set out areas they will continue to
challenge.
In respect of judgements and estimates, the FRC stated
that, amongst other items set out in their thematic
review, it will continue to challenge and expect change
by companies that do not:
•• identify the assets and liabilities at significant risk of
material change in the next 12 months;

The FRC’s thematic reviews for 2018/19 are:
•• targeted aspects of smaller listed and AIM quoted
company reports and accounts;
•• the effect of the new IFRSs on revenue and financial
instruments on companies’ 2018 interim accounts;
•• the expected effect of the new IFRS for lease
accounting; and
•• the effects of Brexit on companies’ disclosure of
principal risks and uncertainties.
Priority sectors and areas of focus announced by the
FRC for reviews in 2018/19 are as follows:
•• financial services, with particular emphasis on banks,
other lenders and insurers;
•• oil and gas;
•• general retailers; and

•• quantify the specific amounts; and
•• business support services.
•• provide sensitivity analysis of the possible range of
outcomes.
In respect of defined benefit pension disclosures, the
FRC stated that, amongst other items set out in their
thematic review, it will continue to challenge and expect
change by companies that do not:
•• disclose the information needed to support an
understanding of how pension-related risk may
affect the amount, timing or uncertainty of future
cash flows (including quantified information about
the level of funding of the pension scheme in future
years); or

More generally in relation to financial statements, and
in addition to the items above, significant areas of
regulatory focus at the moment include the following:
•• Appropriate application of the new IFRSs on
revenue recognition and financial instruments
in the full year financial statements, including clear,
comprehensive, entity-specific disclosures, including
relevant accounting policies.
•• Tax accounting and disclosures remain a significant
area of focus, in particular:
–– narrative around tax strategy, policy and governance;

•• clearly explain the basis on which different plan
assets have been valued.
In respect of APMs, the FRC will continue to challenge
and expect change by companies that display APMs
with greater prominence than IFRS measures or those
who default to identifying matters as ‘non-recurring’ or
similar in connection with items such as restructuring
or impairment charges. The FRC will also continue to
challenge apparent non-compliance with the ESMA
Guidelines more broadly.
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–– the completeness of disclosures of uncertain tax
positions and the risk of material change in the tax
liability;
–– identifying the effective tax rate and discussing
what factors might affect that rate in future;
–– explanation of major reconciling items between
profit before tax multiplied by an appropriate
tax rate and the total tax charge, including
distinguishing non‑recurring items from those
expected to arise each year; and
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–– using an appropriate tax rate in the tax
reconciliation and not simply defaulting to the
domestic tax rate, e.g. where there are significant
multi‑jurisdictional operations.
•• Disclosure and accounting for complex supplier
arrangements, including supplier financing
and presentation of associated cash flows in the
statement of cash flows.
•• Disclosure of accounting policies should avoid
unnecessary repetition of information, boilerplate
or irrelevant items. Accounting policies should
not be provided for items or transactions that are
immaterial, non‑existent or no longer relevant.
•• Appropriate accounting for and disclosure of
business combinations. Care should be taken to
distinguish between asset acquisitions and business
combinations, to identify arrangements that are
remuneration rather than consideration and not to
inappropriately aggregate disclosures for different
business combinations.

•• The impact of a low interest rate environment
and uncertainties around the macro‑economic
environment mean that scrutiny can be expected on
issues such as impairments, recognition of deferred
tax assets and fair value measurements.
•• Whether future committed contributions under a
defined benefit pension scheme are in excess
of any deficit recognised and, if so, whether this
means any additional liability should be recognised.
On a related note, there is also a focus on providing
explanations where surpluses are regarded as
recoverable assets and recognised as such.
Looking further ahead
The table below shows other new standards and
amendments published by the IASB, along with their
effective dates and EU endorsement status.

Title

As issued by the IASB mandatory Per the EU adopting regulation,
for accounting periods starting
mandatory for accounting
on or after
periods beginning on or after

IFRS 16 – Leases

1 January 2019

1 January 2019

IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax 1 January 2019
Treatments

TBC

Amendments to IFRS 9 (Oct 2017) Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

1 January 2019

1 January 2019

Amendments to IAS 28 (Oct 2017) Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

1 January 2019

TBC

Annual Improvements to IFRS
1 January 2019
Standards 2015–2017 Cycle (Dec 2017)

TBC

Amendments to IAS 19 (Feb 2018)
- Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

1 January 2019

TBC

IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts

1 January 2021

TBC

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
(Sept 2014) - Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

Postponed

TBC
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Regulatory overview endnotes
1.	
https://www.iasplus.com/en-gb/news/2016/12/regulations-implementingeu-non-financial-reporting-directive-published
2.	
https://www.iasplus.com/en-gb/news/2018/08/new-company-reportingrequirements-for-private-and-public-companies-approved-by-parliament
3.	
https://www.frc.org.uk/accountants/accounting-and-reporting-policy/clearand-concise-and-wider-corporate-reporting/narrative-reporting/guidanceon-the-strategic-report
4.

Companies Act 2006 s414C(1)

5.

Companies Act 2006 s414C

6.

Companies Act 2006 s414CA

7.	
https://www.iasplus.com/en-gb/news/2017/10-1/frc-thematic-reviewspensions-judgements-and-estimates-apms
8.	
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/311af48c-bdfa-4484-8e7d6de689fd8f4b/Annual-Review-of-Corporate-Reporting-2016-17.PDF
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